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M31 Technology Corporation 

Procedure for 2025 General Shareholders’ Meeting 

 

1. Commencement of the Meeting 

2. Chairman’s Address 

3. Report Matters 

4. Acknowledged Matters 

5. Discussion Matters 

6. Election Matters 

7. Other Proposals 

8. Extermporay Motions 

9. Adjournment 
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M31 Technology Corporation 

Agenda of 2025 General Shareholders’ Meeting 
 

Time: 9:00 AM (Monday) May 27, 2025 

Place: 2F., No.3 Tai-Yuan 1st Street, Zhubei City, Hsinchu County, Taiwan. 

(Multifunction Meeting Room) 

Meeting type: Physical Shareholders’ Meeting 

Chairman: Dr. Huey-Ling Chen, Chairman of the Board 

 

1. Commencement of the Meeting (announce the number of shares in attendance) 

2. Chairman’s Address 

3. Report Matters 

(1) 2024 Business Report 

(2) Audit Committee’s Review Report and communication with chief internal auditor 

(3) 2024 Remuneration of Directors and Employee Compensation. 

(4) Directors’ Remuneration Report 

(5) Cash dividend by 2024 Earnings Distribution 

4. Acknowledged Matters 

(1) 2024 Business Report and Financial Statements 

(2) 2024 Earnings Distribution 

5. Discussion Matters 

(1) Amendment of M31’s "Articles of Incorporation"  

(2) M31 Plan for Long-term Capital Raising 

(3) M31’s Proposal for the Issuance of Restricted Employee Shares 

6. Election Matters 

(1) By-election for one Independent Director Seat in the Fifth Term 

7. Other Proposals 

(1) Discussion to approve the lifting of non-competition restrictions for current and new 

directors (including independent directors) 

8. Extemporary Motions 

9. Adjournment 
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1. Commencement of the Meeting 

2. Chairman’s Address 

3. Report Matters 

Report No. 1 Proposed by the Board of Directors 

Subject : 2024 Business Report. 

Explanation : 2024 Business Report, please refer to Attachment 1 of this handbook. 

 

Report No. 2 Proposed by the Board of Directors 

Subject : Audit Committee’s Review Report and communication with chief internal auditor. 

Explanation  : 1. Audit Committee’s Review Report of 2024, please refer to Attachment 2 of this 

handbook. 

2. The Company’s Independent Directors have good communication with chief 

internal auditor, mainly through the following three approaches:   

(1) The chief internal auditor sends the audit report to the Independent Directors 

by email every month, and the Independent Directors communicate with 

each other by phone or email regarding the audit report. 

(2) At least once a quarter, chief internal auditor will report and explain the 

implementation of the audit plan and significant audit findings to the Audit 

Committee, and discuss and communicate directly with the Independent 

Directors face-to-face. 

(3) Independent Directors provide advice and guidance to the Chief Internal 

Auditor regarding the establishment process of internal control systems for 

subsidiaries, management of subsidiaries, and audit operations during Audit 

Committee meetings, Board meetings, or one-on-one communication 

sessions. The Company arranges at least one meeting per year for 

Independent Directors to communicate individually with the external auditor 

and the Chief Internal Auditor (without the presence of company 

management) to facilitate a deeper understanding and oversight of company 

affairs. 

 

Report No. 3 Proposed by the Board of Directors 

Subject : 2024 Remuneration of Directors and Employee Compensation. 

Explanation : 1. According to Article 23 of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation "If the 

Company generates a profit for the year, no less than 1% of the profit shall be 

allocated as employee compensation, and no more than 1.5% shall be allocated 

as remuneration for directors.However, if the Company has accumulated losses, 

the amount required to cover such losses shall be retained in advance." 

2. As approved by the Board of Directors’ meeting on February 25, 2025, the total 

amount of Directors’ Remuneration was NT$1,850,000 and the total amount of 

Employees’ Compensation was NT$1,850,000 for the year 2024, which will be 

paid in cash.  
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Report No. 4 Proposed by the Board of Directors 
Subject : Directors’ Remuneration Report. 

Explanation :1. The remuneration policy of the Company’s directors is in accordance with the 

Company’s Articles of Incorporation. The remuneration of the Company’s 

directors is based on their participation in the Company’s operations and the value 

of their contributions, and is determined by the Board of Directors’ meeting with 

reference to industry standards. 

2. The Company’s Articles of Incorporation also stipulate that the directors’ 

remuneration shall be no more than 1.5% of the Company’s profit. If the Company 

makes a profit in its annual accounts, the directors’ remuneration will be based on 

the results of the Company’s operations and individual directors’ evaluations, 

which will be reviewed by the Compensation Committee and approved by the 

Board of Directors. In FY2024, the directors’ self-assessment scored 90% or more, 

i.e., "exceeded the standard", therefore, the directors’ remuneration is distributed 

according to the company’s profitability during their term of office, with 

individual allocation amounts as follows: 

1. Please describe the policy, system, standards and structure for the remuneration of independent directors, and the relevance to the amount of remuneration 

based on the responsibilities, risks, and time commitment: The independent directors’ remuneration shall be set at no more than 1.5% of the Company’s profits 

in accordance with Article 23 of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation. If the Company makes a profit in its annual accounts, the directors’ remuneration 

shall be approved by the Board of Directors after consideration by the Compensation Committee based on the results of the Company’s operations and the 

evaluation of individual directors. 

2. In addition to the above table, the remuneration received by the Company’s directors for services rendered to all companies in the financial statements (e.g., 

serving as consultants to non-employees) in the most recent year: None. 

Note 1: This column represents the remuneration of directors approved by the Board of Directors on February 25, 2025. 

Note 2: Independent Director Cheng-WenWu resigned on May 19, 2024. 
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Report No. 5 Proposed by the Board of Directors 

Subject : Cash dividend by 2024 earnings distribution. 

Explanation : 1. In accordance with Article 24 of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation, when 

dividends from the Company’s profits are distributed in cash, the Board of 

Directors is authorized to resolve the distribution and report to the shareholders’ 

meeting. 

2. In accordance with the resolution of the Board of Directors’ meeting held on 

February 25, 2025, the Company approved the distribution of cash dividends of 

NT$2 per share, amounting to NT$83,599,320, and authorized the chairman to 

set the ex-dividend date. 

3. 2024 Statement of Earnings Distribution, please refer to Attachment 3 of this 

handbook.  

 

4. Acknowledged Matters 

Proposal No. 1 Proposed by the Board of Directors 

Subject : 2024 Business Report and Financial Statements. 

Explanation : 1. The Business Report of 2024, Consolidated and Parent Company Only Financial 

Statements including Balance Sheets, Statements of Comprehensive Income, 

Statements of Changes in Equity, Statements of Cash Flows, have been approved 

by the Fourteenth Meeting of the Board of Directors of the Fifth Term. 

2. The preceding mentioned Consolidated and Parent Company Only Financial 

Statements audited by the certified public accountants Mei-Chen Tsai and Yu-

Feng Huang of Deloitte & Touche with the proposed audit report. 

3. The preceding mentioned Business Report, Consolidated and Parent Company 

Only Financial Statements had been submitted to the Audit Committee for review, 

and the review report was issued accordingly. 

4. 2024 Business Report, Independent Auditors’ Report and Financial Statements, 

please refer to Attachments 1, 4 & 5 of this handbook. 

Resolution  : 

  

Proposal No. 2 Proposed by the Board of Directors 

Subject : 2024 Earnings Distribution. 

Explanation  : The Board of Directors approved the 2024 Statement of Earnings Distribution on 

February 25, 2025, please refer to Attachment 3 of this handbook. 

Resolution  : 
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5. Discussion Matters 

Proposal No. 1 Proposed by the Board of Directors 

Subject   : Amendment of M31’s "Articles of Incorporation". 

Explanation  : To comply with current laws and the company’s practical needs, certain provisions 

of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation have been amended. Please refer to 

Attachment 6 of this handbook. 

Resolution  : 

 

Proposal No. 2 Proposed by the Board of Directors 

Subject : M31 Plan for Long-term Capital Raising. 

Explanation  : 1. In response to the Company’s future long-term strategic development and funding 

needs for operational growth (including, but not limited to, reinvestments; 

investments in advanced technology products such as software, equipment, and 

related technologies; replenishment of working capital; plant construction; 

strengthening of the financial structure; and/or other funding needs related to the 

Company’s long-term development), it is proposed that the shareholders authorize 

the Board of Directors to, depending on market conditions and the Company’s 

financial status, raise long-term capital by selecting appropriate timing and 

financing instruments, within a limit of up to 8,000 thousand common shares 

(each with a par value of NT$10). This capital may be raised through one or a 

combination of the following methods: a cash capital increase by issuing common 

shares, a private placement of common shares, and/or a private placement of 

domestic or overseas convertible corporate bonds. 

2. For details regarding the issuance methods and related content, please refer to 

Attachments 7 to 8 of this handbook. 

3. This long-term capital raising plan shall be executed either in one round or in two 

separate rounds within one year from the date of the shareholders’ meeting 

resolution. Key details—including but not limited to the underwriting method, 

issue price, actual number of shares issued, issuance terms, issuance methods, 

project plans, use of funds, total capital to be raised, expected fund utilization 

schedule, anticipated benefits, and all other matters related to the issuance—are 

proposed to be authorized to the Board of Directors, who may determine and adjust 

them in accordance with market conditions. Should any changes be required in the 

future due to regulatory approvals, operational considerations, or objective 

circumstances, the Board of Directors is also fully authorized to handle such 

changes. 

4. To carry out the capital raising plan, the Chairman or a designated representative is 

authorized to approve and act on behalf of the Company in handling all matters 

related to this long-term capital raising plan, including the signing of relevant 

contracts and documents. 

5. For any matters not covered herein, it is proposed that the shareholders authorize 

the Board of Directors to handle them with full authority in accordance with 

relevant laws and regulations. 

Resolution  : 
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Proposal No. 3 Proposed by the Board of Directors 

Subject : M31’s Proposal for the Issuance of Restricted Employee Shares. 

Explanation  : To boost employee morale, strengthen team cohesion, and achieve the goal of 

attracting and retaining talent, the Company proposes to issue restricted employee 

shares. For details, please refer to Attachment 9 of this handbook. 

Resolution  : 

 

 

6. Election Matters  

Proposal No. 1 Proposed by the Board of Directors 

Subject   : By-election for one Independent Director Seat in the Fifth Term. 

Explanation  : 1.The current Independent Director, Dr. Cheng-Wen Wu, resigned on May 19, 2024, 

due to his appointment as Minister of the National Science and Technology 

Council. A by-election is proposed to be held at this general shareholders’ meeting 

in accordance with Article 192-1 of the Company Act. The term of the newly 

elected Independent Director will run from the date of election until May 23, 2026. 

2.According to Article 15 of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation, the election 

of directors shall adopt a candidate nomination system, and shareholders shall elect 

directors from the list of nominated candidates. 

3.This by-election shall be conducted in accordance with the company's “Director 

Election Rules.” 

4.The list of independent director candidates was reviewed and approved by the 

Board of Directors on February 25, 2025. Please refer to the following: 

Name Shareholding Education / Experience and Current Position 

Pei-Ying 

Li 
0 

Education / Experience: 

- M.S. in Technology Law, National Yang Ming 

Chiao Tung University 

- MBA, University of California, Riverside 

- B.S. in Management Science, National Chiao Tung 

University 

- Vice President, Holtek Semiconductor Inc. 

- Deputy Manager, Deloitte & Touche 

Current Position: 

- Attorney, Hsinchu Branch, Eternity Law Firm 

- CPA, Patty Li CPA Firm 

- Independent Director, Harvatek Corporation 

- Independent Director, Holtek Semiconductor Inc. 

- Director, JBG Hotspring Resort Hotel Co., Ltd. 

Resolution  : 
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7. Other Proposals 

Proposal No. 1 Proposed by the Board of Directors 

Subject : Discussion to approve the lifting of non-competition restrictions for current and new 

directors (including independent directors) 

Explanation : 1. This is processed pursuant to the provision in Article 209 of the Company Act 

that "A Director who does anything for himself or on behalf of another person 

that is within the scope of the company’s business, shall explain to the meeting 

of shareholders the essential contents of such an act and secure its approval." 

2. In order to leverage the expertise and experience of the Company’s Directors, it 

is proposed to approve the release of the non-competition restrictions for current 

and new directors (including independent directors), whose concurrent positions 

are as follows. 

 

Name 
Job Titles in Other 

Companies 
(Institutions) 

Main Business 
Activities(Note) 

Potential Conflicts of Interest 
(Note) 

Director 
Chun-Hao 

Lai 

Director, Wolley, 
Inc. (California, 
USA) 

CXL/PCIe controller IP and 
related design services 

Wolley is a U.S.-based company. 
Mr. Chun-Hao Lai, a director of 
M31, also serves as a director of 
Wolley. As Wolley's products are 
different from those of M31; 
therefore, there is no conflict of 
interest. 

Consultant, Xconn 
Technologies 
(California, USA) 

High-performance, low-power, 
scalable, and cost-effective 
interconnect solutions that 
accelerate AI computing in 
data centers and the HPC field. 

Xconn is a U.S.-based company. 
Mr. Chun-Hao Lai, a director of 
M31, serves as a consultant to 
Xconn. As Xconn’s products are 
different from those of M31 ; 
therefore, there is no conflict of 
interest. 

Independent 
Director  

Jun-Ji Lin 

Independent 
Director, Scientech 
Corp. 

Semiconductors (front-end, 
back-end, and gallium 
arsenide), flat panel displays, 
LEDs, data storage, scientific 
instruments, and high-tech 
related products. 

Mr. Jun-Ji Lin, an Independent 
Director of M31, also serves as 
an Independent Director of 
Scientech Corp. As Scientech 
Corp.’s business scope differs 
from that of M31; therefore, 
there is no conflict of interest. 

Independent 
Director 

Shih-Ying 
Huang 

Independent 
Director, 
PET Pharm Biotech 
Co., Ltd 

Biotech Company 

Ms. Shih-Ying Huang, an 
Independent Director of M31, 
also serves as an Independent 
Director of PET Pharm Biotech 
Co. As PET Pharm Biotech Co.’s 
business scope differs from 
M31; therefore, there is no 
conflict of interest. 

 
 

Independent 
Director 

Candidate 
Pei-Ying Li 

 
 

Attorney, Hsinchu 
Branch, Eternity 
Law Firm 

Law Firm 

The industry of Eternity Law 
Firm is different from that of 
M31; therefore, there is no 
conflict of interest. 

CPA, Patty Li CPA 
Firm 

CPA Firm 

The industry of Patty Li CPA 
Firm is different from that of 
M31; therefore, there is no 
conflict of interest. 
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Name 
Job Titles in Other 

Companies 
(Institutions) 

Main Business 
Activities(Note) 

Potential Conflicts of Interest 
(Note) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Independent 
Director 

Candidate 
Pei-Ying Li 

Independent 
Director, Harvatek 
Corporation 

Home appliances (robotic 
vacuum cleaners/hand dryers), 
gaming peripherals (gaming 
keyboards), optical touch 
screens, mobile devices 
(smartphones/tablets), 
wearables 
(smartwatches/fitness bands), 
security surveillance, display 
applications, lighting, and 
more. 

Ms. Pei-Ying Li, an Independent 
Director candidate of M31, also 
serves as an Independent 
Director of Harvatek 
Corporation. As Harvatek 
Corporation’s business scope 
differs from M31; therefore, 
there is no conflict of interest. 

Independent 
Director, Holtek 
Semiconductor Inc. 

Specialized in microcontroller 
IC design, with main products 
including 8-bit and 32-bit 
MCU ICs and the design, 
development, and sales of 
related peripheral components. 

Ms. Pei-Ying Li, an Independent 
Director candidate of M31, also 
serves as an Independent 
Director of Holtek 
Semiconductor Inc. As Holtek 
Semiconductor Inc.’s business 
scope is different from that of 
M31; therefore, there is no 
conflict of interest. 

Director, JBG 
Hotspring Resort 
Hotel CO., LTD 

Hotel Services Industry 

The industry of JBG Hotspring 
Resort Hotel CO. is different 
from that of M31; therefore, 
there is no conflict of interest. 

Note: The Securities and Futures Investors Protection Center has sent a letter requesting that additional explanatory 

content be provided at the general shareholders’ meeting to facilitate understanding by all shareholders. 

 
Resolution  : 

 

 

8. Extemporary Motions 

 

9. Adjournment 
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M31 Technology Corporation 

Business Report 

In 2024, the global semiconductor industry faced numerous challenges, including market demand 

fluctuations, increased macroeconomic uncertainty, and adjustments across the industry supply 

chain, all of which impacted the Company's operations. Under these conditions, M31 also 

encountered various headwinds, resulting in revenue performance falling short of expectations and 

marking the first revenue decline since the Company’s founding. Nevertheless, we actively 

responded to market changes by enhancing product competitiveness and strengthening our 

technological roadmap, while continuing to deepen relationships with customers and partners in 

hopes of quickly regaining growth momentum. We sincerely thank our shareholders for their trust 

and support, and we remain committed to continuous improvement. With steady and strategic 

planning, we aim to meet future challenges and build a stronger foundation for the Company's long-

term development. 

1. FY 2024 Operating Results 

1.1  Business Plan Implementation Results 

(1) Operating revenue for the year was NT$1,480,903 thousand, an annual decline of 8.15% 

compared to the operating revenue of NT$1,612,337 thousand in 2023. The gross profit 

margin for both years was 100%; technical service revenue accounted for 83.83%, and royalty 

income accounted for 16.17% of the operating revenue in FY2024, with a slight decrease in 

royalty income compared to FY2023. 

(2) Net income after tax was NT$126,922 thousand, with a net profit ratio of 8.57%, an annual 

decrease of 70.83% compared to the net profit after tax of NT$435,170 thousand in 2023, 

mainly due to the decline in operating revenues and the increase in operating expenses; EPS 

for FY2024 was NT$3.05. 

1.2  Financial Budget: M31 did not prepare the annual financial projection for the year 2024. 

1.3  Analysis of Financial Income and Profitability 

Year 

Item 
FY2024 FY2023 Difference 

Financial Income 

and Expenses 

(NT$ in Thousands) 

Net cash generated from 

operating activities 
46,638 241,341 (197,703) 

Net cash used in investing 

activities 
(93,018) 332,001 (425,019) 

Net cash used in financing 

activities 
(289,200) (258,691) (30,509) 

Profitability (%) 

Return on Assets 5.62 18.28 (69.26%) 

Return on Equity 6.37 22.20 (71.31%) 

Net income before tax as a 

percentage of paid-in capital 

35.98 147.30 (75.57%) 

Net profit ratio 8.57 26.99 (68.25%) 

Earnings per share (NT$) 3.05 10.50 (70.95%) 
Note: The earnings per share for 2023 were retroactively adjusted to reflect the impact of the 2024 stock dividend. 

M31's financial income and expenses decreased in FY2024 compared to FY2023, while 

profitability also declined compared to 2023. 
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1.4  Research and Development 

– Deepen collaboration with foundries, focusing on FinFET processes below 16nm: 

⚫ 12nm process: Launched standard cell libraries, memory compilers, and general-

purpose I/O libraries to meet high-performance and low-power requirements. 

⚫ 6nm process: Developed low-power memory compilers to enhance competitiveness. 

⚫ 3nm process: Invested in Foundation IP R&D to strengthen technological 

capabilities. 

– Mature and specialty process platforms: 

⚫ Expand 28nm and above mature process technologies through collaboration with 

global foundry partners. 

⚫ Expanded deployment in high-voltage (HV), embedded non-volatile memory 

(eNVM), and BCD technologies, successfully introducing specialized processes 

such as 28nm HPC, 40nm ESF3H, and 40nm HV. 

– Advanced process memory segment: 

⚫ Completed design and validation of 3nm, 5nm, and 6nm ONFI I/O and PHY, with 

ongoing optimization. 

⚫ Developed integrated PHY and controller to expand into the AI and edge computing 

markets. 

– High-Speed Interface IP: 

⚫ Development of 3nm eUSB2 PHY IP completed; 2nm eUSB2 PHY IP is under 

development. 

⚫ Development of 2nm PCIe PHY IP has been initiated. 

⚫ Successfully launched 6nm USB4 PHY IP & DisplayPort TX V2.1 PHY, supporting 

Type-C USB4 SoCs. 

⚫ MPHY Gear 4 & Gear 5 (5nm/7nm) development completed, supporting automotive 

electronics, AR/VR, and sensor applications. 

– Memory Interface and Analog IP: 

⚫ Successfully developed 12nm LPDDR4 / LPDDR4X PHY IP. 

⚫ Completed 3nm DPLL development, demonstrating strong technological innovation. 

In summary, in 2024, M31 continued to keep pace with the technological advancements of 

foundries, actively engaging in the development of high-performance, low-power 

foundation IP driven by market demand. This development spans process platforms from 

12nm down to sub-7nm and further extends into foundation IP development for the 

advanced 3nm process. In the area of high-speed interface IP, we continued to refine our 

product portfolio and proactively addressed the growing performance demands of 

advanced applications. These products have been widely adopted across diverse markets, 

including automotive electronics, 5G, artificial intelligence (AI), edge computing, network 

communications, and cloud storage—helping customers accelerate innovation and product 

upgrades. Additionally, we have taken a forward-looking approach in advancing to the 2nm 

process node, which has already been certified and adopted by leading international 
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institutions and major enterprises, showcasing our strong R&D capabilities and market 

competitiveness. 

2. Business Plan Outline for 2025 

In response to the growing demand for advanced process IP from IC design companies and 

foundries, M31 established an overseas R&D center in India in 2023, focused on advanced 

process IP development, and expanded the scale of its subsidiary in China while actively 

recruiting top global talent. In 2025, we will further strengthen our advanced process 

development strategy, expand our IP market presence, and enhance market share by deepening 

strategic partnerships. In addition, as more countries strengthen their local wafer supply chains, 

we will continue collaborating with leading global foundries and major IC design companies to 

develop a diversified portfolio of foundation IP and high-speed interface IP, delivering high-value 

IP solutions. Although revenue declined in 2024 due to weak demand in consumer electronics 

and project delays from foundry customers, looking ahead to 2025, M31 is fully committed to 

reigniting growth momentum, pursuing steady development, and continuously enhancing market 

competitiveness. 

2.1 Growth and Sales Expectation 

With the accelerated development of artificial intelligence (AI), 5G, high-performance 

computing (HPC), and automotive electronics applications, the market is progressing toward 

a future driven by big data, high-speed transmission, and low latency. According to the latest 

industry research reports, the global semiconductor market is expected to grow by 13.8% in 

2025, reaching a total value of USD 717 billion, which will further propelling Taiwan's 

semiconductor industry to new heights. Among this growth, the IP industry is projected to 

expand at a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of 16.7% through 2026, with the top five 

high-speed interface IP segments seeing an even higher CAGR of 19%, highlighting the 

strong growth momentum and market potential in this field. Aligning with industry trends, 

M31 remains focused on high-frequency, high-speed designs, advanced process technologies, 

and cutting-edge innovation, continuously delivering high-quality, differentiated IP products 

and services. As our product portfolio becomes increasingly comprehensive, the company 

will leverage its industry-leading custom R&D capabilities to further enhance product 

performance. Overall sales and revenue in 2025 are expected to surpass those of 2024, 

marking a return to a growth trajectory. 

2.2 Production and Marketing 

M31’s primary markets include Mainland China, the United States, and Taiwan, each with 

distinct IP demands. In China, government policies have accelerated the rapid growth of the 

IC design industry, with end applications covering high-, mid-, and entry-level markets. The 

industry is also actively investing in advanced process development, driving increased 

demand for high-speed interface IP. Additionally, domestic substitution policies aimed at 

improving self-sufficiency in IC products above 28nm have further boosted the need for 

foundation IP. In the U.S. market, the focus is on semiconductor manufacturing technologies 

and advanced chip R&D. Customers primarily demand IP for high-end applications such as 

mobile computing, artificial intelligence (AI), automotive electronics, high-performance 

storage, and cloud servers—all of which require high-performance IP solutions. In Taiwan, 

M31 works closely with leading foundries. After entering TSMC’s sub-16nm FinFET 
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process node in 2023, the company further expanded to the 6nm process in 2024, while also 

deepening its development of specialty process IP, including HV processes (for display driver 

ICs), BCD processes (for power management ICs), and eFlash processes (for microcontroller 

ICs). These applications are also key market segments for Taiwan-based consumer IC design 

companies. To meet the diverse IP needs of its core markets, M31 continues to invest in R&D, 

closely following advanced process trends and offering differentiated IP solutions. These 

efforts aim to increase the penetration of IP products across various application markets and 

foster the healthy development of the industry ecosystem. As a professional IP development 

company, M31 adheres to its commitment not to compete with customers and does not 

develop its own IC products, ensuring long-term trusted partnerships and allowing the 

company to continue delivering value to its clients. 

3. Future Development Strategies and External Competitive, Regulatory, and Overall 

Business Environment 

As we enter 2025, macroeconomic and geopolitical uncertainties persist. Since the onset of the 

U.S.-China trade war, various measures such as export bans, import tariffs, and investment 

restrictions have been implemented. With the continued expansion of U.S. export control 

measures against China, M31 has maintained a cautious project selection approach since the 

beginning of the trade war. The company strictly complies with all applicable regulations and 

follows the most rigorous procedures to assess whether customers meet the relevant requirements, 

ensuring that services are provided to global clients only under fully lawful and compliant 

conditions. Looking ahead, M31 will continue to closely monitor U.S. regulatory developments 

and proactively mitigate geopolitical risks to safeguard the long-term interests of the company’s 

shareholders and employees. 

4. Environmental, Social, and Corporate Governance (ESG) 

M31 is committed to sound corporate governance, values the rights and interests of stakeholders, 

and actively promotes the three aspects of ESG through the Sustainability Committee, striving 

toward long-term corporate sustainability. 

In 2024, we published our first Sustainability Report, disclosing the company's strategies and 

responses to issues related to the economy, environment, society, and corporate governance, 

thereby enhancing information transparency. At the same time, M31 has been ranked among the 

top 5% of companies in the TPEx Corporate Governance Evaluation for three consecutive years 

and has been selected for Forbes' “Asia’s 200 Best Under a Billion” for two consecutive years—

recognition of our long-term commitment to improving corporate governance and the 

effectiveness of our efforts. 

In terms of protecting shareholder rights and ensuring operational transparency, we have 

consistently held our shareholders’ meeting before the end of May since 2018 (with the exception 

of 2021, which was postponed in accordance with regulatory guidelines due to the pandemic). 

Since the fourth quarter of 2019, we have also published bilingual (Chinese and English) financial 

statements immediately following each board meeting to ensure information symmetry. In 

addition, the company has obtained international certifications in quality management, 

information security, automotive electronics, and environmental protection, further enhancing 

operational quality and market competitiveness. 
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In terms of environmental protection, we actively promote energy reduction and green, low-

carbon transformation, continuously working to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. We have set a 

target to achieve net-zero emissions by 2050. In 2024, the company received an “A” rating from 

MSCI ESG for the first time and was honored with the Taiwan Corporate Sustainability Awards 

(TCSA) in both the "Sustainability Reporting" and "Overall Performance" categories, 

demonstrating outstanding achievements in sustainable development. 

Lastly, we sincerely thank our shareholders for their trust and support. All of our employees will 

continue to work diligently, driving growth through outstanding technology and innovation to 

deliver greater investment returns and create long-term value together. 
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Audit Committee’s Review Report 
 

 

 

The Board of Directors has prepared the Company’s 2024 business report, financial 

statements, and proposal for distribution of profits. The CPA firm of Deloitte & Touche 

was retained to audit M31’s financial statements (Consolidated and Parent Company 

Only) and has issued an audit report relating to the financial statements. The business 

report, financial statements, and profit distribution proposal have been reviewed by the 

Audit Committee and no irregularities were found. We hereby report as above according 

to Article 14-4 of the Securities and Exchange Act and Article 219 of the Company Act. 

 

 

 

M31 Technology Corporation 

 
Chairman of the Audit Committee: Shih-Ying Huang 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Feburary 25, 2025
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M31 Technology Corporation 

Statement of Earnings Distribution 

2024 
  Unit：NT$ 

  Amount 

Beginning Balance of Unappropriated Retained Earnings  389,879,845 

  Add：Net Earnings of 2024  126,921,611 

  Less：Legal Reserve Appropriated  (12,692,161) 

Sub-total of distributable retained earnings  504,109,295 

Distribution Item   

Shareholder Dividends –Cash (NT$2 per Share)  (83,599,320) 

Ending Balance of Unappropriated Retained Earnings  420,509,975 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Remarks: 1. According to the Rule No.871941343 issued by the Ministry of Finance on April 30, 1998, the 

appropriation of earnings for the current year has priority over the most recent year, i.e., the 2024 

earnings. 

2. Allotment calculation basis: Based on 41,799,660 shares outstanding as of February 1, 2025 (41,802,160 

shares issued less 2,500 shares recovered from employee restricted shares). 

3. The cash dividend is NT$2 per share, and the total amount of dividends to be distributed to each 

shareholder is calculated to the nearest dollar, with any amount less than one dollar being disregarded. 

Any remaining fractional amounts of cash dividends that are less than one dollar will be transferred to 

the Company’s Employee Welfare Committee. After reporting to the shareholders’ meeting, the 

distribution of the aforementioned cash dividends will be authorized by the Board of Directors and the 

Chairman will set the ex-dividend date separately. 

4. If, for any reason, the total number of outstanding shares of the Company is affected in the future, the 

distribution ratio will be adjusted according to the actual number of outstanding shares of the Company 

on the ex-dividend date in accordance with the total amount of cash dividends authorized and resolved 

above.  
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DELOITTE 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 

The Board of Directors and Shareholders  

M31 Technology Corporation  

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of M31 Technology Corporation and 

its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as 

of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in 

equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, 

including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 

the consolidated financial position of the Group as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and its consolidated 

financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with the 

Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers and International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), International Accounting Standards (IAS), IFRIC Interpretations 

(IFRIC), and SIC Interpretations (SIC) endorsed and issued into effect by the Financial Supervisory 

Commission of the Republic of China. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the Regulations Governing Auditing and Attestation of 

Financial Statements by Certified Public Accountants and auditing standards in the Republic of China. Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit 

of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 

accordance with The Norm of Professional Ethics for Certified Public Accountant of the Republic of China, 

and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe 

that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 

audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024. These matters were 

addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming 

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  

Key audit matters for the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024 

are stated as follows: 

Risk of Improper Recognition of Technical Service Revenue 

The Group's major revenue source is derived from the technical service income and royalty income received 

from offering silicon intellectual property (SIP) service. 

The recognition of revenue from technical services is based on the terms of each contract. Since the terms 

of each contract are different, there is a risk that revenue may be recognized before the contractual 

obligations are fulfilled. 

Due to the fact that these transactions involve manual control, there is a risk that revenue will be recognized 

if the contractual obligations are not fulfilled due to errors. Therefore, we list the recognition of technical 

service revenue as a key audit matter. Please refer to Note 4, point 11, for relevant accounting policies. 
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We exercise audit processes as below towards the aforementioned risk of improper recognition of technical 

service revenue:  

1. Understand the design and operating effectiveness of the Group’s internal control systems relevant to 

the recognition of technical service revenue contracts.  

2. Sample the technical service revenue contracts recognized in 2024, checking relevant documents and 

receivable collections, reviewing critical contract provisions, for the purpose of ensuring the proper 

timing of revenue recognition.  

3. Sample the technical service revenue contracts recognized in a period before/after the balance sheet 

dates to perform the cut-off test, for the purpose of ensuring proper satisfaction of performance 

obligations and revenue recognition prior to the balance sheet dates. 

Other Matter 

We have also audited the parent company only financial statements of M31 Technology Corporation as of 

and for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 on which we have issued an unmodified opinion.  

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial 

Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 

in accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities Issuers, 

and IFRS, IAS, IFRIC and SIC endorsed and issued into effect by the Financial Supervisory Commission 

of the Republic of China, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 

the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 

to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance, including the audit committee, are responsible for overseeing the Group’s 

financial reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report 

that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with the auditing standards in the Republic of China will always detect a 

material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 

material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the auditing standards in the Republic of China, we exercise 

professional judgment and professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

1. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 

a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 

involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

2. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

3. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
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4. Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to 

the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 

to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 

going concern. 

5. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

6. Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We are responsible for the direction, supervision, and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 

responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 

control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 

matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 

safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were 

of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 

2024 and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law 

or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 

determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 

doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

The engagement partners on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report are Mei-Chen Tsai and 

Yu-Feng Huang. 

 

Deloitte & Touche 

Taipei, Taiwan 

Republic of China 

 

February 25, 2025 
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M31 TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023 

(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 

    December 31, 2024  December 31, 2023 

  ASSETS  Amount  ％  Amount  ％ 

  CURRENT ASSETS         

  Cash and cash equivalents（Notes 4 and 6）    $ 529,011     25    $ 849,121     35 

  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - current（Notes 4 

and 7） 

 

   135,825     6     183,099     8 

  Financial assets at amortized cost - current（Notes 4 and 9）     17,610     1     115,718     5 

  Accounts Receivable (including related parties) （Notes 4, 5, 10, 20, 

and 28） 

 

   262,787     12     373,804     16 

  Other receivables     6,931     -     4,587     - 

  Current tax assets（Notes 4 and 22）     95,695     5     82,556     3 

  Prepayments（Note 15）     148,372     7     44,155     2 

  Other current assets（Notes 15 and 29）     8,528     -     1,275     - 

  Total current assets     1,204,759     56     1,654,315     69 

                       

  NON-CURRENT ASSETS         

  Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income - 

non-current（Notes 4 and 8） 

 

   1,008     -     -     - 

  Financial assets at amortized cost - non-current (Notes 4 and 9)     303,797     14     147,520     6 

  Property, plant and equipment（Notes 4, 12 and 29）     591,847     27     561,779     23 

  Right-of-use assets（Notes 4 and 13）     21,393     1     11,056     1 

  Intangible assets（Notes 4 and 14）     17,580     1     12,136     1 

  Deferred tax assets（Notes 4 and 22）     10,872     1     6,975     - 

  Other non-current assets（Note 15）     7,956     -     3,008     - 

  Total non-current assets     954,453     44     742,474     31 

                       

  TOTAL    $ 2,159,212     100    $ 2,396,789     100 

           

  LIABILITIES AND EQUITY         

  CURRENT LIABILITIES         

  Contract liabilities - current（Note 20）    $ 31,255     1    $ 28,151     1 

  Accounts payable（Note 16）     1,933     -     4,738     - 

  Other payables（Note 17）     137,117     6     227,519     10 

  Other payables－related parties（Note 28）     13,114     1     -     - 

  Current tax liabilities（Notes 4 and 22）     1,253     -     52,632     2 

  Lease liabilities - current（Notes 4 and 13）     11,017     1     4,756     - 

  Other current liabilities（Note 17）     21,529     1     8,289     1 

  Total current liabilities     217,218     10     326,085     14 

                       

  NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES         

  Deferred tax liabilities (Notes 4 and 22)      11,394     1     1,138     - 

  Lease liabilities - non-current（Notes 4 and 13）     11,296     -     6,547     - 

  Total non-current liabilities     22,690     1     7,685     - 

                       

      Total liabilities     239,908     11     333,770     14 

                       

  EQUITY（Note 19）         

  Share capital         

  Ordinary shares     418,022     19     348,658     15 

  Share capital pending cancellation   (  25 )     -   (  180 )     - 

  Share capital subtotal     417,997     19     348,478     15 

  Capital surplus     745,102     35     750,042     31 

  Retained earnings         

  Legal reserve     237,808     11     194,211     8 

  Unappropriated earnings     516,801     24     781,894     33 

  Total retained earnings     754,609     35     976,105     41 

  Other equity     1,596     -   (  11,606 )   (  1 ) 

                       

  Total equity     1,919,304     89     2,063,019     86 

                       

  TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY    $ 2,159,212     100    $ 2,396,789     100 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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M31 TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023 

(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Except Earnings Per Share) 

 

    2024  2023 

    Amount  ％  Amount  ％ 

  OPERATING REVENUE（Notes 4, 20 and 

28） 
 
  $ 1,480,903     100    $ 1,612,337     100 

                       

  GROSS PROFIT     1,480,903     100     1,612,337     100 

                       

  OPERATING EXPENSES（Notes 14, 21 and 

28） 
 
       

  Selling and marketing expenses   (  141,583 )   (  9 )   (  100,484 )   (  6 ) 

  General and administrative expenses   (  138,016 )   (  9 )   (  124,943 )   (  8 ) 

  Research and development expenses   (  1,122,090 )   (  76 )   (  938,873 )   (  58 ) 

  Expected credit loss（Note 10）   (  25,948 )   (  2 )   (  1,541 )     - 

  Total operating expenses   (  1,427,637 )   (  96 )   (  1,165,841 )   (  72 ) 

                       

  OPERATING INCOME     53,266     4     446,496     28 

                       

  NON-OPERATING INCOME AND 

EXPENSES 
 
       

  Interest income（Notes 4 and 21）     29,078     2     29,662     2 

  Other income（Notes 4 and 21）     5,824     -     1,995     - 

  Other gains and losses（Notes 4 and 

21） 
 
   63,537     4     35,503     2 

  Finance costs（Note 21）   (  1,308 )     -   (  340 )     - 

  Total non-operating income  

and expenses 
 
   97,131     6     66,820     4 

                       

  PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX     150,397     10     513,316     32 

                       

  INCOME TAX EXPENSE（Notes 4 and 22）   (  23,475 )   (  1 )   (  78,146 )   (  5 ) 

                       

  NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR     126,922     9     435,170     27 

 

（Continued）  
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    2024  2023 

    Amount  ％  Amount  ％ 

  OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME         

  Items that will not be reclassified  

subsequently to profit or loss: 
 
       

  Unrealized gain(loss) on 

investments in equity  

instruments at fair value 

through other comprehensive 

income (Note 19) 

 

  $ -     -    $ 134     - 

  Items that may be reclassified  

subsequently to profit or loss: 
 
       

  Exchange differences on  

translating the financial 

statements of foreign  

operations（Notes 4 and 19） 

 

   2,731     -   (  145 )     - 

  Income tax relating to items  

that may be reclassified 

subsequently to profit or loss

（Notes 4, 19 and 22） 

 

 (  547 )     -     30     - 

       2,184     -   (  115 )     - 

  Other comprehensive income(loss) 

for the year, net of income tax

  

 

   2,184     -     19     - 

                       

  TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  

FOR THE YEAR 
 
  $ 129,106     9    $ 435,189     27 

                       

  EARNINGS PER SHARE（Note 23）         

  Basic    $ 3.05         $ 10.50      

  Diluted    $ 3.04         $ 10.41      

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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M31 TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023 

(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars)  

  

                Other Equity   

                Exchange  Unrealized Valuation     

                Difference on  Gain (Loss) on     

    Share Capital    Retained Earnings  Translating the  Financial Assets at     

    
Shares 

(In Thousands)  Amount 

 
Share Capital 

Pending Cancellation 

 

Capital Surplus 

 

Legal Reserve 

 
Unappropriated 

Earnings 

 Financial  

Statements of  

Foreign Operations 

 Fair Value Through 

Other Comprehensive 

Income 

 
Unearned Employee 

Benefits 

 

Total Equity 

  BALANCE AT JANUARY 1, 2023     31,708    $ 317,080   ( $ 100 )    $ 756,194    $ 155,904    $ 669,512    $ 400    $ 667   ( $ 42,200 )    $ 1,857,457 

                                                     

  Appropriations of 2022 earnings                     

  Legal reserve     -     -     -     -     38,307   (  38,307 )     -     -     -     - 

  Cash dividends     -     -     -     -     -   (  253,584 )     -     -     -   (  253,584 ) 

  Stock dividends     3,170     31,698     -     -     -   (  31,698 )     -     -     -     - 

                                                     

  Net profit for the year ended December 31, 2023     -     -     -     -     -     435,170     -     -     -     435,170 

                                                     

  Other comprehensive income(loss) for the year ended 

December 31, 2023, net of income tax (Note 19) 
 

   -     -     -     -     -     -   (  115 )     134     -     19 

                                                     

  Total comprehensive income(loss) for the year ended  

December 31, 2023 
 

   -     -     -     -     -     435,170   (  115 )     134     -     435,189 

                                                     

  Compensation cost of employee restricted shares  

(Note 19)  
 

   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     25,957     25,957 

                                                     

  Employee restricted shares cancellation   (  12 )   (  120 )   (  80 )   (  6,152 )     -     -     -     -     4,352   (  2,000 ) 

                                                     

  Disposal of investments in equity instruments at fair value 

through other comprehensive income (Note 19) 
 

   -     -     -     -     -     801     -   (  801 )     -     - 

                                                     

  BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2023     34,866     348,658   (  180 )     750,042     194,211     781,894     285     -   (  11,891 )     2,063,019 

                                                     

  Appropriations of 2023 earnings                     

  Legal reserve     -     -     -     -     43,597   (  43,597 )     -     -     -     - 

  Cash dividends     -     -     -     -     -   (  278,734 )     -     -     -   (  278,734 ) 

  Stock dividends     6,968     69,684     -     -     -   (  69,684 )     -     -     -     - 

                                                     

  Net profit for the year ended December 31, 2024     -     -     -     -     -     126,922     -     -     -     126,922 

                                                     

  Other comprehensive income(loss) for the year ended  

December 31, 2024, net of income tax (Note 19) 
 

   -     -     -     -     -     -     2,184     -     -     2,184 

                                                     

  Total comprehensive income(loss) for the year  

ended December 31, 2024 
 

   -     -     -     -     -     126,922     2,184     -     -     129,106 

                                                     

  Compensation cost of employee restricted shares (Note 19)

  
 

   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     7,563     7,563 

                                                     

  Employee restricted shares cancellation   (  32 )   (  320 )     155   (  4,940 )     -     -     -     -     3,455   (  1,650 ) 

                                                     

  BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2024     41,802    $ 418,022   ( $ 25 )    $ 745,102    $ 237,808    $ 516,801    $ 2,469    $ -   ( $ 873 )    $ 1,919,304 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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M31 TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023 

(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 

    2024  2023 

  CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     

  Profit before income tax     $ 150,397    $ 513,316 

  Adjustments for:     

  Depreciation expenses     55,738     42,517 

  Amortization expenses     7,688     6,533 

  Expected credit loss      25,948     1,541 

  Net (gain) loss on fair value changes of financial 

assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 

 (  3,973 )     235 

  Finance costs     1,308     340 

  Interest income   (  29,078 )   (  29,662 ) 

  Dividend income   (  1,747 )   (  540 ) 

  Compensation cost of employee restricted 

shares  

 

   7,563     25,957 

  Gain on disposal of property, plant and  

equipment  
 

   -   (  1,200 ) 

  Gain on disposal of non-current assets held for 

sale 
 

   -   (  42,916 ) 

  Unrealized (gain) loss on foreign currency  

  exchange 
 

 (  41,259 )     24,588 

  Changes in operating assets and liabilities     

  Accounts receivable     97,480   (  56,988 ) 

  Other receivables     60   (  331 ) 

  Prepayments   (  104,217 )     12,734 

  Other current assets   (  905 )   (  1,143 ) 

  Contract liabilities     3,104   (  238,039 ) 

  Accounts payable   (  2,889 )     2,697 

  Other payables   (  89,725 )     47,058 

  Other payables -related parties     13,114     - 

  Other current liabilities     13,140     698 

  Cash generated from operations     101,747     307,395 

  Interest received     26,632     29,587 

  Dividend received     1,747     540 

  Interest paid   (  1,308 )   (  340 ) 

  Income tax paid   (  82,180 )   (  95,841 ) 

  Net cash generated from operating activities     46,638     241,341 

             

 

(Continued) 
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    2024  2023 

  CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES     

  Acquisition of financial assets at fair value through 

other comprehensive income 
 

 ( $ 1,008 )    $ - 

 
 Disposal of financial assets at fair value through 

other comprehensive income 
 

   -     956 

  Acquisition of financial assets at amortized cost   (  204,053 )   (  170,296 ) 

  Disposal of financial assets at amortized cost     162,740     301,590 

  Disposal of financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss 
 

   51,247     101,561 

  Disposal of non-current assets held for sale     -     141,767 

  Acquisition of property, plant and equipment   (  80,289 )   (  35,651 ) 

  Disposal of property, plant and equipment     -     1,200 

  Increase in refundable deposits   (  2,306 )   (  1,600 ) 

  Decrease in refundable deposits     -     56 

  Acquisition of intangible assets   (  13,129 )   (  7,582 ) 

  Increase in other financial assets   (  6,220 )     - 

  Net cash (used in) generated from investing 

  activities 
 

 (  93,018 )     332,001 

             

  CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES     

  Repayment of the principal portion of lease liabilities   (  8,816 )   (  3,107 ) 

  Dividends paid   (  278,734 )   (  253,584 ) 

  Payment for buy-back of employee restricted shares   (  1,650 )   (  2,000 ) 

  Net cash used in financing activities   (  289,200 )   (  258,691 ) 

             

  EFFECTS OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON THE 

BALANCE OF CASH HELD IN FOREIGN 

CURRENCIES 

 

   15,470   (  12,306 ) 

             

  NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH 

EQUIVALENTS 
 

 (  320,110 )     302,345 

             

  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE 

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 
 

   849,121     546,776 

             

  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END 

OF THE YEAR 
 

  $ 529,011    $ 849,121 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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DELOITTE 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

 

The Board of Directors and Shareholders  

M31 Technology Corporation  

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying parent company only financial statements of M31 Technology 

Corporation (the “Company”), which comprise the parent company only balance sheet as of December 31, 

2024 and 2023, and the parent company only statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and 

cash flows for the years then ended, and the notes to the parent company only financial statement, including 

a summary of significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying parent company only financial statements present fairly, in all material 

respects, the parent company only financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, 

and the parent company only financial performance and the parent company only cash flows for the years 

then ended in accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities 

Issuers.  

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the Regulations Governing Auditing and Attestation of 

Financial Statements by Certified Public Accountants and auditing standards in the Republic of China. Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit 

of the Parent Company Only Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 

Company in accordance with The Norm of Professional Ethics for Certified Public Accountant of the 

Republic of China, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 

requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 

a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 

audit of the parent company only financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024. These matters 

were addressed in the context of our audit of the parent company only financial statements as a whole, and 

in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  

Key audit matters for the parent company only financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2024 

are stated as follows: 

Risk of Improper Recognition of Technical Service Revenue 

The Company's major revenue source is derived from the technical service income and royalty income 

received from offering silicon intellectual property (SIP) service. 

The recognition of revenue from technical services is based on the terms of each contract. Since the terms 

of each contract are different, there is a risk that revenue may be recognized before the contractual 

obligations are fulfilled. 

Due to the fact that these transactions involve manual control, there is a risk that revenue will be recognized 

if the contractual obligations are not fulfilled due to errors. Therefore, we list the recognition of technical 

service revenue as a key audit matter. Please refer to Note 4, point 11, for relevant accounting policies. 
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We exercise audit processes as below towards the aforementioned risk of improper recognition of technical 

service revenue:  

1. Understand the design and operating effectiveness of the Company’s internal control systems relevant 

to the recognition of technical service revenue contracts.  

2. Sample the technical service revenue contracts recognized in 2024, checking relevant documents and 

receivable collections, reviewing critical contract provisions, for the purpose of ensuring the proper 

timing of revenue recognition.  

3. Sample the technical service revenue contracts recognized in a period before/after the balance sheet 

dates to perform the cut-off test, for the purpose of ensuring proper satisfaction of performance 

obligations and revenue recognition prior to the balance sheet dates. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Parent Company Only 

Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the parent company only financial 

statements in accordance with the Regulations Governing the Preparation of Financial Reports by Securities 

Issuers, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 

parent company only financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error. 

In preparing the parent company only financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 

concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 

Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance, including the audit committee, are responsible for overseeing the 

Company’s financial reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Parent Company Only Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the parent company only financial 

statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 

auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 

guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the auditing standards in the Republic of China will 

always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these parent company only financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the auditing standards in the Republic of China, we exercise 

professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

1. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the parent company only financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 

audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 

fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 

internal control. 

2. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

3. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

4. Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 

we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report 
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to the related disclosures in the parent company only financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 

date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to 

continue as a going concern. 

5. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the parent company only financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the parent company only financial statements represent the 

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

6. Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of entities or 

business activities within the Company to express an opinion on the parent company only financial 

statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision, and performance of the audit. We remain 

solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 

control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 

matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 

safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were 

of most significance in the audit of the parent company only financial statements for the year ended 

December 31, 2024 and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ 

report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 

circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 

consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 

communication. 

The engagement partners on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report are Mei-Chen Tsai and 

Yu-Feng Huang. 

 

Deloitte & Touche 

Taipei, Taiwan 

Republic of China 

 

February 25, 2025 
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M31 TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION 
 

PARENT COMPANY ONLY BALANCE SHEETS 

DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023 

(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 

    December 31, 2024  December 31, 2023 

  ASSETS  Amount  ％  Amount  ％ 

  CURRENT ASSETS         

  Cash and cash equivalents（Notes 4 and 6）    $ 461,473     22    $ 806,045     34 

  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – current 

  (Notes 4 and 7） 

 

   135,825     6     183,099     8 

  Financial assets at amortized cost - current（Notes 4 and 9）     -     -     100,000     4 

  Accounts receivable（Notes 4, 5, 10 and 20）     212,199     10     338,063     14 

  Accounts receivable - related parties（Notes 4, 5, 20 and 28）     86,453     4     55,900     2 

  Other receivables     6,570     -     4,488     - 

  Other receivables－related parties（Notes 4 and 28）     6,592     -     4,495     - 

  Current tax assets（Notes 4 and 22）     90,306     4     80,410     4 

  Prepayments（Note 15）     144,408     7     43,282     2 

  Other current assets（Notes 15 and 29）     8,528     1     1,275     - 

  Total current assets     1,152,354     54     1,617,057     68 

                       

  NON-CURRENT ASSETS         

  Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income –  

  non-current（Notes 4 and 8） 

 

   1,008     -     -     - 

  Financial assets at amortized cost - non-current (Notes 4 and 9)     303,797     14     147,520     6 

  Investments accounted for using the equity method 

(Notes 4 and 11） 

 

   71,403     3     41,665     2 

  Property, plant and equipment（Notes 4, 12 and 29）     586,162     27     559,569     23 

  Right-of-use assets（Notes 4 and 13）     294     -     1,177     - 

  Intangible assets（Notes 4 and 14）     17,009     1     12,136     1 

  Deferred tax assets（Notes 4 and 22）     10,577     1     6,975     - 

  Other non-current assets（Note 15）     229     -     1,406     - 

  Total non-current assets     990,479     46     770,448     32 

                       

  TOTAL     $ 2,142,833     100    $ 2,387,505     100 

           

  LIABILITIES AND EQUITY         

  CURRENT LIABILITIES         

  Contract liabilities － current（Note 20）    $ 31,255     2    $ 28,151     1 

  Accounts payable（Note 16）     1,476     -     4,738     - 

  Other payables（Note 17）     134,927     6     227,441     10 

  Other payables － related parties（Note 28）     24,453     1     2,220     - 

  Current tax liabilities（Notes 4 and 22）     -     -     52,103     2 

  Lease liabilities － current（Notes 4 and 13）     300     -     890     - 

  Other current liabilities（Note 17）     19,724     1     7,505     1 

  Total current liabilities     212,135     10     323,048     14 

                       

  NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES         

  Deferred tax liabilities (Notes 4 and 22)      11,394     -     1,138     - 

  Lease liabilities － non-current（Notes 4 and 13）     -     -     300     - 

  Total non-current liabilities     11,394     -     1,438     - 

                       

      Total liabilities     223,529     10     324,486     14 

                       

  EQUITY（Note 19）         

  Share capital         

  Ordinary shares     418,022     20     348,658     15 

  Share capital pending cancellation   (  25 )     -   (  180 )     - 

  Share capital subtotal     417,997     20     348,478     15 

  Capital surplus     745,102     35     750,042     31 

  Retained earnings         

  Legal reserve     237,808     11     194,211     8 

  Unappropriated earnings     516,801     24     781,894     33 

  Total retained earnings     754,609     35     976,105     41 

  Other equity     1,596     -   (  11,606 )   (  1 ) 

                       

  Total equity     1,919,304     90     2,063,019     86 

                       

  TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY    $ 2,142,833     100    $ 2,387,505     100 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the parent company only financial statements
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M31 TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION 
  

PARENT COMPANY ONLY STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023 

(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars, Except Earnings Per Share) 

 

    2024  2023 

    Amount  ％  Amount  ％ 

  OPERATING REVENUE（Notes 4, 20 and 

28） 
 
  $ 1,472,044     100    $ 1,610,202     100 

                       

  GROSS PROFIT     1,472,044     100     1,610,202     100 

                       

  OPERATING EXPENSES（Notes 14, 21 and 

28） 
 
       

  Selling and marketing expenses   (  139,389 )   (  10 )   (  101,973 )   (  6 ) 

  General and administrative expenses   (  138,016 )   (  9 )   (  124,943 )   (  8 ) 

  Research and development expenses   (  1,135,826 )   (  77 )   (  941,452 )   (  59 ) 

  Expected credit loss（Note 10）   (  25,948 )   (  2 )   (  1,541 )     - 

  Total operating expenses   (  1,439,179 )   (  98 )   (  1,169,909 )   (  73 ) 

                       

  OPERATING INCOME     32,865     2     440,293     27 

                       

  NON-OPERATING INCOME AND 

EXPENSES 
 
       

  Interest income（Notes 4 and 21）     28,219     2     29,273     2 

  Other income（Notes 4 and 21）     5,824     -     1,995     - 

  Other gains and losses（Notes 4 and 

21） 
 
   66,652     5     35,703     2 

  Finance costs（Note 21）   (  10 )     -   (  22 )     - 

  Share of profit of subsidiaries  

       (Note 4) 
 
   13,463     1     4,268     1 

  Total non-operating income 

and expenses 
 
   114,148     8     71,217     5 

                       

  PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX     147,013     10     511,510     32 

                       

  INCOME TAX EXPENSE（Notes 4 and 22）   (  20,091 )   (  1 )   (  76,340 )   (  5 ) 

                       

  NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR     126,922     9     435,170     27 

 

 

(Continued) 
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    2024  2023 

    Amount  ％  Amount  ％ 

  OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME         

  Items that will not be reclassified  

subsequently to profit or loss: 
 
       

  Unrealized gain(loss) on 

investments in equity 

instruments at fair value 

through other comprehensive 

income (Note 19) 

 

  $ -     -    $ 134     - 

  Items that may be reclassified  

subsequently to profit or loss: 
 
       

  Exchange differences on  

translating the financial 

statements of foreign 

operations (Notes 4 and 19) 

 

   2,731     -   (  145 )     - 

  Income tax relating to items  

that may be reclassified 

subsequently to profit or loss 

(Notes 4, 19 and 22) 

 

 (  547 )     -     30     - 

       2,184     -   (  115 )     - 

  Other comprehensive income(loss) 

for the year, net of income tax 
 
   2,184     -     19     - 

                       

  TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  

  FOR THE YEAR 
 
  $ 129,106     9    $ 435,189     27 

                       

  EARNINGS PER SHARE（Note 23）         

  Basic    $ 3.05         $ 10.50      

  Diluted    $ 3.04         $ 10.41      

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the parent company only financial statements. 
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M31 TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION 

PARENT COMPANY ONLY STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023 

(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 

                Other Equity   

                Exchange  Unrealized Valuation     

                Difference on  Gain (Loss) on     

    Share Capital    Retained Earnings  Translating the  Financial Assets at     

    
Shares 

(In Thousands)  Amount 

 
Share Capital 

Pending Cancellation 

 

Capital Surplus 

 

Legal Reserve 

  

Unappropriated 

Earnings 

 Financial Statements 

of Foreign 

Operations 

 Fair Value Through 

Other Comprehensive 

Income 

 
Unearned Employee 

Benefits 

 

Total Equity 

  BALANCE AT JANUARY 1, 2023     31,708    $ 317,080   ( $ 100 )    $ 756,194    $ 155,904    $ 669,512    $ 400    $ 667   ( $ 42,200 )    $ 1,857,457 

                                                     

  Appropriations of 2022 earnings                     

  Legal reserve     -     -     -     -     38,307   (  38,307 )     -     -     -     - 

  Cash dividends     -     -     -     -     -   (  253,584 )     -     -     -   (  253,584 ) 

  Stock dividends     3,170     31,698     -     -     -   (  31,698 )     -     -     -     - 

                                                     

  Net profit for the year ended December 31, 2023     -     -     -     -     -     435,170     -     -     -     435,170 

                                                     

  Other comprehensive income(loss) for the year ended 

December 31, 2023, net of income tax (Note 19) 
 

   -     -     -     -     -     -   (  115 )     134     -     19 

                                                     

  Total comprehensive income(loss) for the year ended  

December 31, 2023 
 

   -     -     -     -     -     435,170   (  115 )     134     -     435,189 

                                                     

  Compensation cost of employee restricted shares  

(Note 19)  
 

   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     25,957     25,957 

                                                     

  Employee restricted shares cancellation (Note 19)   (  12 )   (  120 )   (  80 )   (  6,152 )     -     -     -     -     4,352   (  2,000 ) 

                                                     

  Disposal of investments in equity instruments at fair value 

through other comprehensive income (Notes 19) 
 

   -     -     -     -     -     801     -   (  801 )     -     - 

                                                     

  BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2023     34,866     348,658   (  180 )     750,042     194,211     781,894     285     -   (  11,891 )     2,063,019 

                                                     

  Appropriations of 2023 earnings                     

  Legal reserve     -     -     -     -     43,597   (  43,597 )     -     -     -     - 

  Cash dividends     -     -     -     -     -   (  278,734 )     -     -     -   (  278,734 ) 

  Stock dividends     6,968     69,684     -     -     -   (  69,684 )     -     -     -     - 

                                                     

  Net profit for the year ended December 31, 2024     -     -     -     -     -     126,922     -     -     -     126,922 

                                                     

  Other comprehensive income(loss) for the year ended  

December 31, 2024, net of income tax (Note 19) 
 

   -     -     -     -     -     -     2,184     -     -     2,184 

                                                     

  Total comprehensive income(loss) for the year ended 

December 31, 2024 
 

   -     -     -     -     -     126,922     2,184     -     -     129,106 

                                                     

  Compensation cost of employee restricted shares  

(Note 19)  
 

   -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     7,563     7,563 

                                                     

  Employee restricted shares cancellation (Note 19)   (  32 )   (  320 )     155   (  4,940 )     -     -     -     -     3,455   (  1,650 ) 

                                                     

  BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2024     41,802    $ 418,022   ( $ 25 )    $ 745,102    $ 237,808    $ 516,801    $ 2,469    $ -   ( $ 873 )    $ 1,919,304 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the parent company only financial statements.
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M31 TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION 
 

PARENT COMPANY ONLY STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 AND 2023 

(In Thousands of New Taiwan Dollars) 

 

    2024  2023 

  CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     

  Profit before income tax     $ 147,013    $ 511,510 

  Adjustments for:     

  Depreciation expenses     45,683     39,803 

  Amortization expenses     7,543     6,533 

  Expected credit loss      25,948     1,541 

  Net (gain) loss on fair value changes of financial 

assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 

 (  3,973 )     235 

  Finance costs     10     22 

  Interest income   (  28,219 )   (  29,273 ) 

  Dividend income   (  1,747 )   (  540 ) 

  Compensation cost of employee restricted 

shares  

 

   7,563     25,957 

  Share of profit of subsidiaries   (  13,463 )   (  4,268 ) 

  Gain on disposal of property, plant and  

equipment  
 

   -   (  1,200 ) 

  Gain on disposal of non-current assets held for 

sale 
 

   -   (  42,916 ) 

  Unrealized (gain) loss on foreign currency  

  exchange 
 

 (  44,813 )     25,954 

  Changes in operating assets and liabilities     

  Accounts receivable     112,327   (  55,597 ) 

  Accounts receivable - related parties   (  26,986 )   (  22,586 ) 

  Other receivables     321   (  315 ) 

  Other receivables - related parties   (  2,086 )   (  4,495 ) 

  Prepayments   (  101,126 )     13,433 

  Other current assets   (  905 )   (  1,143 ) 

  Contract liabilities     3,104   (  238,039 ) 

  Accounts payable   (  3,346 )     2,697 

  Other payables   (  91,837 )     46,983 

  Other payables - related parties     22,209     169 

  Other current liabilities     12,119   (  86 ) 

  Cash generated from operations     65,339     274,379 

  Interest received     25,774     29,198 

  Dividend received     1,747     540 

  Interest paid   (  10 )   (  22 ) 

  Income tax paid   (  75,983 )   (  92,427 ) 

  Net cash generated from operating activities     16,867     211,668 

             

 

（Continued）  
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    2024  2023 

  CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES     

  Acquisition of financial assets at fair value through 

other comprehensive income 
 

 ( $ 1,008 )    $ - 

  Disposal of financial assets at fair value through 

other comprehensive income 
 

   -     956 

  Acquisition of financial assets at amortized cost   (  203,243 )   (  160,739 ) 

  Disposal of financial assets at amortized cost     162,740     301,590 

  Disposal of financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss 
 

   51,247     101,561 

  Acquisition of long-term equity investments under 

the equity method 
 

 (  13,544 )   (  17,079 ) 

  Disposal of non-current assets held for sale     -     141,767 

  Acquisition of property, plant and equipment   (  71,551 )   (  33,176 ) 

  Disposal of property, plant and equipment     -     1,200 

  Increase in refundable deposits   (  149 )   (  107 ) 

  Decrease in refundable deposits     -     56 

  Acquisition of intangible assets   (  12,416 )   (  7,582 ) 

  Increase in other financial assets   (  6,220 )     - 

  Net cash (used in) generated from investing 

  activities 
 

 (  94,144 )     328,447 

             

  CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES     

  Repayment of the principal portion of lease liabilities   (  890 )   (  878 ) 

  Dividends paid   (  278,734 )   (  253,584 ) 

  Payment for buy-back of employee restricted shares   (  1,650 )   (  2,000 ) 

  Net cash used in financing activities   (  281,274 )   (  256,462 ) 

             

  EFFECTS OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON THE 

BALANCE OF CASH HELD IN FOREIGN 

CURRENCIES 

 

   13,979   (  12,234 ) 

             

  NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH 

EQUIVALENTS 
 

 (  344,572 )     271,419 

             

  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE  

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 
 

   806,045     534,626 

             

  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END 

OF THE YEAR 
 

  $ 461,473    $ 806,045 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the parent company only financial statements. 
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M31 Technology Corporation 

“Articles of Incorporation” Amendment Comparison Table 
 

Item
 

Original Article Amended Article Description 

A
rticle 6

 

The Company’s authorized capital is set at 

NT$500 million, divided into 50 million 

shares, each with a par value of NT$10, and 

may be issued in installments as authorized by 

the Board of Directors based on actual needs. 

Within this amount, up to NT$75 million is 

reserved for the issuance of employee stock 

option certificates, which may also be issued 

in installments as resolved by the Board of 

Directors. 

The recipients of the Company’s employee 

stock option certificates include employees of 

controlling and subsidiary companies who 

meet certain criteria. 

When the Company issues new shares, 

employees eligible to subscribe include those 

from controlling and subsidiary companies 

who meet certain criteria. 

Recipients of the Company's restricted 

employee shares include employees of 

controlling and subsidiary companies who 

meet certain criteria. 

The recipients of the Company’s treasury 

shares repurchased in accordance with the law 

include employees of controlling and 

subsidiary companies who meet certain 

criteria. 

The Company’s authorized capital is set at 

NT$800 million, divided into 80 million 

shares, each with a par value of NT$10, and 

may be issued in installments as authorized by 

the Board of Directors based on actual needs. 

Within this amount, up to NT$120 million is 

reserved for the issuance of employee stock 

option certificates, which may also be issued 

in installments as resolved by the Board of 

Directors. 

The recipients of the Company’s employee 

stock option certificates include employees of 

controlling and subsidiary companies who 

meet certain criteria. 

When the Company issues new shares, 

employees eligible to subscribe include those 

from controlling and subsidiary companies 

who meet certain criteria. 

Recipients of the Company's restricted 

employee shares include employees of 

controlling and subsidiary companies who 

meet certain criteria. 

The recipients of the Company’s treasury 

shares repurchased in accordance with the law 

include employees of controlling and 

subsidiary companies who meet certain 

criteria. 

Increase the 

authorized 

capital in line 

with the 

Company’s 

operational 

needs. 

A
rticle 2

3
 

If the Company generates a profit for the year, 

no less than 1% of the profit shall be allocated 

as employee compensation, and no more than 

1.5% shall be allocated as remuneration for 

directors. 

 

However, if the Company has accumulated 

losses, the amount required to cover such 

losses shall be retained in advance. 

Employee compensation may be distributed in 

the form of stock or cash, and recipients may 

include employees of subsidiary companies 

who meet certain criteria, as authorized and 

determined by the Board of Directors. 

Directors’ remuneration shall be distributed in 

cash. 

If the Company generates a profit for the year, 

no more than 1.5% of the profit shall be 

allocated as remuneration for directors, and 

no less than 1% shall be allocated as employee 

compensation, of which at least 0.1% of the 

profit shall be specifically allocated to 

compensation for junior-level employees. 

However, if the Company has accumulated 

losses, the amount required to cover such 

losses shall be retained in advance. 

Employee compensation may be distributed in 

the form of stock or cash, and recipients may 

include employees of subsidiary companies 

who meet certain criteria, as authorized and 

determined by the Board of Directors. 

Directors’ remuneration shall be distributed in 

cash. 

To comply 

with legal 

requirements 

(Article 14, 

Paragraph 6 of 

the Securities 

and Exchange 

Act), 

provisions 

detailing the 

allocation of 

compensation 

to junior-level 

employees 

have been 

incorporated. 



< Attachment 6> 
 

36 

Item
 

Original Article Amended Article Description 

A
rticle 2

6
 

The Articles of Incorporation was established on 

October 5, 2011. 

The first amendment was made on January 13, 

2012.  

The second amendment was made on March 

13, 2012. 

The third amendment was made on April 17, 

2012. 

The fourth amendment was made on March 

25, 2013. 

The fifth amendment was made on June 25, 

2014. 

The sixth amendment was made on June 28, 

2016. 

The seventh amendment was made on May 9, 

2017. 

The eighth amendment was made on May 24, 

2018. 

The ninth amendment was made on November 

13, 2018 

The tenth amendment was made on August 5, 

2021 

The eleventh amendment was made on May 

26, 2022  

The Articles of Incorporation was established on 

October 5, 2011. 

The first amendment was made on January 13, 

2012.  

The second amendment was made on March 

13, 2012. 

The third amendment was made on April 17, 

2012. 

The fourth amendment was made on March 

25, 2013. 

The fifth amendment was made on June 25, 

2014. 

The sixth amendment was made on June 28, 

2016. 

The seventh amendment was made on May 9, 

2017. 

The eighth amendment was made on May 24, 

2018. 

The ninth amendment was made on November 

13, 2018 

The tenth amendment was made on August 5, 

2021 

The eleventh amendment was made on May 

26, 2022 

The twelfth amendment was made on May 

27, 2025 

Add dates and 

number of 

amendments. 
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M31 Technology Corporation 

Description of Issuance Methods and Details  

for Long-Term Capital Raising Plan 

1. Purpose and Amount of Capital Raising: 

In response to the Company’s future long-term strategic development and funding needs for 

operational growth (including, but not limited to, reinvestments; investments in advanced 

technology products such as software, equipment, and related technologies; replenishment of 

working capital; plant construction; strengthening of the financial structure; and/or other funding 

needs related to the Company’s long-term development), it is proposed that the shareholders 

authorize the Board of Directors to, depending on market conditions and the Company’s financial 

status, raise long-term capital by selecting appropriate timing and financing instruments, within a 

limit of up to 8,000 thousand common shares (each with a par value of NT$10). This capital may 

be raised through one or a combination of the following methods: a cash capital increase by issuing 

common shares, a private placement of common shares, and/or a private placement of domestic or 

overseas convertible corporate bonds (hereinafter referred to as "Convertible Bonds"). If 

Convertible Bonds are issued through a private placement, the number of common shares to be 

converted shall be calculated based on the conversion price at the time of issuance and must be 

within the aforementioned limit of 8,000 thousand shares. 

2. Methods of Capital Raising and Implementation Principles: 

2.1 Cash capital increase through public offering of common stock: 

(1) The actual issue price shall be determined in accordance with the relevant provisions of the 

“Rules Governing Self-Regulation of Securities Offerings and Issuance by Companies 

Assisted by Underwriter Members of the Securities Association of the Republic of China,” 

and shall be jointly negotiated by the Chairman and the underwriter based on market 

conditions at the time of issuance. The issuance shall proceed after obtaining approval from 

the competent authority. 

(2) Regarding the sales method for the public underwriting portion, the Board of Directors is 

proposed to be authorized to select one of the following three methods for implementation: 

(2.1) In accordance with Article 267, Paragraph 1 of the Company Act, 10% to 15% of the 

total number of newly issued shares shall be reserved for employees to subscribe at the 

issue price. As for the remaining shares, it is proposed, pursuant to Article 28-1 of the 

Securities and Exchange Act, that the shareholders' meeting approve a waiver by 

existing shareholders of their preemptive rights in proportion to their shareholdings, 

and that all such shares be allocated through a book-building and public offering 

process. In the event that employees waive or do not fully subscribe to their allocated 

shares, it is proposed that the Chairman be authorized to negotiate with specific persons 

to subscribe to the unsubscribed portion at the issue price. 

(2.2) In accordance with Article 267, Paragraph 1 of the Company Act, 10% to 15% of the 

total number of newly issued shares shall be reserved for employees to subscribe at the 

issue price. As for the remaining shares, it is proposed, pursuant to Article 28-1 of the 

Securities and Exchange Act, that the shareholders' meeting approve a waiver by 
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existing shareholders of their preemptive rights in proportion to their shareholdings, 

and that all such shares be allocated through a competitive bidding process. In the 

event that employees waive or do not fully subscribe to their allocated shares, it is 

proposed that the Chairman be authorized to negotiate with specific persons to 

subscribe to the unsubscribed portion at the issue price. 

(2.3) In accordance with Article 267, Paragraph 1 of the Company Act, 10% to 15% of the 

total number of newly issued shares shall be reserved for employees to subscribe at the 

issue price. Additionally, pursuant to Paragraph 2, Article 28-1 of the Securities and 

Exchange Act, 10% of the total number of newly issued shares shall be allocated for 

public offering. The remaining shares shall be allocated to the Company's existing 

shareholders in proportion to their shareholdings. In the event that employees or 

existing shareholders waive or do not fully subscribe to their allocated shares, it is 

proposed that the Chairman be authorized to negotiate with specific persons to 

subscribe to the unsubscribed portion at the issue price. 

(3) Purpose of the Capital Raised, Fund Utilization Schedule, and Expected Benefits: 

Use of Funds:  

For one or more of the following purposes: reinvestments; investments in advanced 

technology products such as software, equipment, and related technologies; 

replenishment of working capital; plant construction; strengthening of the financial 

structure; and/or other funding needs related to the Company’s long-term development. 

Expected Benefits:  

The funds are expected to be fully utilized within three years after the completion of 

the capital raising, which will enhance the Company’s competitiveness and improve 

operational efficiency. 

2.2 Cash capital increase through private placement of common shares: 

(1) Basis and Reasonableness of the Private Placement Price Determination: 

(1.1) The subscription price for this private placement of common shares is determined based 

on the higher of the following two reference prices: (i) the simple arithmetic average of 

the closing prices of the common shares for 1, 3, or 5 business days prior to the pricing 

date (whichever is selected), or (ii) the simple arithmetic average of the closing prices for 

the 30 business days prior to the pricing date, both adjusted by deducting for ex-rights and 

ex-dividend on stock dividends and adding back price adjustments due to capital 

reductions. 

(1.2) The subscription price for this private placement of common shares shall be no less than 

80% of the reference price. The actual subscription price, provided it does not fall below 

the percentage approved by the shareholders' meeting, is proposed to be determined by 

the Board of Directors based on market conditions and negotiations with specific parties. 

(1.3) The subscription price of the aforementioned privately placed common shares is based on 

the Company’s share price and the reference price, and complies with the relevant 

regulations governing private placements of securities by public companies. In 

consideration of the three-year transfer restriction on privately placed securities, the 

pricing is therefore considered reasonable. 
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(2) Method and Purpose of Selecting Specific Persons, Necessity, and Expected Benefits: 

Method for Selecting Specific Persons:  

The targets of this private placement shall be limited to specific persons as defined under 

Article 43-6 of the Securities and Exchange Act and must be strategic investors. Priority 

will be given to those expected to contribute to the Company’s long-term development, 

enhance competitiveness, and benefit existing shareholders. As of now, no specific 

investors have been finalized. It is proposed that the Board of Directors be fully 

authorized to handle all matters related to their selection. 

Purpose, Necessity, and Expected Benefits of Selecting Strategic Investors: 

To meet the needs of the Company’s operational development, it is proposed that strategic 

investors be selected to directly or indirectly assist the Company in areas such as finance, 

business operations, R&D, technology, procurement, management, and strategic planning, 

in order to enhance the Company’s competitiveness, improve operational efficiency, and 

promote long-term development. 

(3) Reason for Conducting a Private Placement:  

Considering factors such as the relative timeliness and convenience of private placements, 

as well as the Company’s plan to introduce strategic investors to support its development, 

conducting the offering through a private placement is deemed necessary. 

(4) Purpose of the Capital Raised and Expected Benefits:  

This private placement will be carried out in one or two rounds within one year from the date 

of the shareholders’ meeting resolution, depending on market conditions and negotiations 

with specific investors. 

(4.1) Single Round:  

The total number of common shares offered through this public offering, combined 

with the number of common shares that may be converted from the privately placed 

convertible bonds, shall not exceed 8,000 thousand shares. 

Use of Funds:  

For one or more of the following purposes: reinvestments; investments in advanced 

technology products including software, equipment, and related technologies; 

replenishment of working capital; plant construction; strengthening of the financial 

structure; and/or addressing other funding needs related to the Company’s long-term 

development. 

Expected Benefits:  

The funds are expected to be fully utilized within three years after the completion of 

the capital raising, which will help strengthen the Company’s competitiveness and 

enhance operational efficiency. 

(4.2) Two Rounds of Issuance:  

First Round of Issuance: 

Between 1,000 thousand and 7,000 thousand shares. The total number of common 

shares offered in this round, together with the common shares offered through this 

public offering, and the common shares that may be converted from the privately 

placed convertible bonds under this plan, shall not exceed 8,000 thousand shares. 
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Use of Funds:  

For one or more of the following purposes: reinvestments; investments in advanced 

technology products including software, equipment, and related technologies; 

replenishment of working capital; plant construction; strengthening of the financial 

structure; and/or addressing other funding needs related to the Company’s long-term 

development. 

Expected Benefits:  

The funds are expected to be fully utilized within three years after the completion of 

the capital raising, which will help strengthen the Company’s competitiveness and 

enhance operational efficiency. 

Second Round of Issuance:  

Between 1,000 thousand and 7,000 thousand shares. The total number of common 

shares issued in this round, together with those issued in the first round of the private 

placement, the common shares offered through this public offering, and the common 

shares that may be converted from the privately placed convertible bonds under this 

plan, shall not exceed 8,000 thousand shares. 

Use of Funds:  

For one or more of the following purposes: reinvestments; investments in advanced 

technology products including software, equipment, and related technologies; 

replenishment of working capital; plant construction; strengthening of the financial 

structure; and/or addressing other funding needs related to the Company’s long-term 

development. 

Expected Benefits:  

The funds are expected to be fully utilized within three years after the completion of 

the capital raising, which will help strengthen the Company’s competitiveness and 

enhance operational efficiency. 

(5) For this private placement of securities, it is proposed that the Board of Directors be 

authorized to apply to the Taipei Exchange (TPEx) for a letter of approval for listing, in 

accordance with TPEx listing standards, upon completion of a three-year period from the 

date of delivery of the privately placed securities. The Company shall subsequently file with 

the competent authority for retroactive public issuance and apply for TPEx trading. 

(6) If it is anticipated that the two rounds of private placement cannot be completed within one 

year from the date of the shareholders’ meeting resolution, or if there is no plan to proceed 

with additional rounds during the remaining period, and the original plan is still deemed 

feasible, the private placement shall be considered as having been fully subscribed in terms 

of share capital or bond proceeds. 

2.3 Private Placement of Domestic or Overseas Convertible Corporate Bonds: 

(1) Basis and Reasonableness of the Private Placement Price Determination: 

(1.1) Determination of Theoretical Pricing: This refers to the price of the securities calculated 

using an appropriate valuation model that takes into account the various rights associated 

with the issuance terms. The selected model should comprehensively and simultaneously 

consider all rights embedded in the issuance conditions. If any rights cannot be 

incorporated into the model, such rights should be excluded from the issuance terms. 
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(1.2) The issue price of the privately placed convertible corporate bonds shall not be lower than 

80% of the theoretical price. The actual issue price, provided that it does not fall below 

the percentage approved by the shareholders’ meeting, is proposed to be determined by 

the Board of Directors based on market conditions and negotiations with specific investors. 

(1.3) The issue price of the aforementioned privately placed convertible corporate bonds is 

determined with reference to both the Company’s share price and the theoretical price, and 

it complies with the relevant regulations governing private placements of securities by 

public companies. Furthermore, as the bonds are subject to a statutory three-year transfer 

restriction, the pricing is therefore considered reasonable. 

(2) Method and Purpose of Selecting Specific Persons, Necessity, and Expected Benefits: 

The targets of this private placement shall be limited to specific persons as defined under 

Article 43-6 of the Securities and Exchange Act and must be strategic investors. Priority will 

be given to those expected to contribute to the Company’s long-term development, enhance 

competitiveness, and benefit existing shareholders. As of now, no specific investors have been 

finalized. It is proposed that the Board of Directors be fully authorized to handle all matters 

related to their selection. 

Purpose, Necessity, and Expected Benefits of Selecting Strategic Investors: To meet the needs 

of the Company’s operational development, it is proposed that strategic investors be selected 

to directly or indirectly assist the Company in areas such as finance, business operations, 

R&D, technology, procurement, management, and strategic planning, in order to enhance the 

Company’s competitiveness, improve operational efficiency, and promote long-term 

development. 

(3) Reason for Conducting a Private Placement:  

Considering factors such as the relative timeliness and convenience of private placements, as 

well as the Company’s plan to introduce strategic investors to support its development, 

conducting the offering through a private placement is deemed necessary. 

(4) Purpose of the Capital Raised and Expected Benefits:  

This private placement will be carried out in one or two rounds within one year from the date 

of the shareholders’ meeting resolution, depending on market conditions and negotiations 

with specific investors. 

(4.1) Single Round of Issurance:  

The total number of publicly offered and privately placed common shares under this 

plan shall not exceed 8,000 thousand shares. 

Use of Funds:  

For one or more of the following purposes: reinvestments; investments in advanced 

technology products including software, equipment, and related technologies; 

replenishment of working capital; plant construction; strengthening of the financial 

structure; and/or addressing other funding needs related to the Company’s long-term 

development. 

Expected Benefits:  

The funds are expected to be fully utilized within three years after the completion of 

the capital raising, which will help strengthen the Company’s competitiveness and 

enhance operational efficiency. 
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(4.2) Two Rounds of Issurance 

First Round of Issuance:  

Between 1,000 thousand and 7,000 thousand shares. The total number of shares from 

this public offering and the privately placed common shares combined shall not exceed 

8,000 thousand shares. 

Use of Funds:  

For one or more of the following purposes: reinvestments; investments in advanced 

technology products including software, equipment, and related technologies; 

replenishment of working capital; plant construction; strengthening of the financial 

structure; and/or addressing other funding needs related to the Company’s long-term 

development. 

Expected Benefits:  

The funds are expected to be fully utilized within three years after the completion of 

the capital raising, which will help strengthen the Company’s competitiveness and 

enhance operational efficiency. 

Second Round of Issuance:  

Between 1,000 thousand and 7,000 thousand shares. The total number of common 

shares from this round, combined with the shares that may be converted from the 

privately placed convertible bonds in the first round, the common shares offered 

through the public offering, and the privately placed common shares, shall not exceed 

8,000 thousand shares. 

Use of Funds:  

For one or more of the following purposes: reinvestments; investments in advanced 

technology products including software, equipment, and related technologies; 

replenishment of working capital; plant construction; strengthening of the financial 

structure; and/or addressing other funding needs related to the Company’s long-term 

development. 

Expected Benefits:  

The funds are expected to be fully utilized within three years after the completion of 

the capital raising, which will help strengthen the Company’s competitiveness and 

enhance operational efficiency. 

(5) For the provisional rules governing the issuance and conversion of this private placement of 

convertible corporate bonds, please refer to Attachment 8 of this manual. 

(6) If it is anticipated that the two rounds of private placement cannot be completed within one 

year from the date of the shareholders’ meeting resolution, or if there is no plan to proceed 

with additional rounds during the remaining period, and the original plan is still deemed 

feasible, the private placement shall be considered as having been fully subscribed in terms 

of share capital or bond proceeds. 

3. The common shares issued through this cash capital increase and the privately placed common 

shares will be issued or delivered in dematerialized form. Except for the transfer restrictions within 

three years from the date of delivery, as stipulated in Article 43-8 of the Securities and Exchange 

Act and applicable to the privately placed securities, the rights and obligations of the newly issued 

common shares shall be the same as those of the existing common shares. 
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4. This long-term capital raising plan shall be executed either in one round or in two separate rounds 

within one year from the date of the shareholders’ meeting resolution. Key details—including but 

not limited to the underwriting method, issue price, actual number of shares issued, issuance terms, 

issuance methods, project plans, use of funds, total capital to be raised, expected fund utilization 

schedule, anticipated benefits, and all other matters related to the issuance—are proposed to be 

authorized to the Board of Directors, who may determine and adjust them in accordance with 

market conditions. Should any changes be required in the future due to regulatory approvals, 

operational considerations, or objective circumstances, the Board of Directors is also fully 

authorized to handle such changes. 

5. To carry out the capital raising plan, it is proposed that the shareholders’ meeting authorize the 

Chairman or a designated representative to act on behalf of the Company in handling all matters 

related to this long-term capital raising plan and to sign all relevant contracts and documents. 

6. For any matters not addressed herein, it is proposed that the Shareholders’ Meeting authorize the 

Board of Directors to handle them with full authority in accordance with applicable laws and 

regulations. 
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M31 Technology Corporation 

Private Placement and Conversion of Convertible Corporate Bonds Regulations 

(Tentative)  

 

1. Issuer: M31 Technology Corporation (hereinafter referred to as the “Company” or “M31”).  

2. Total Issuance Amount: The Board of Directors is authorized to, within a limit of no more than 

8,000 thousand shares of common stock, carry out the capital raising through one or a combination 

of the following methods: issuance of common shares through a cash capital increase, private 

placement of common shares through a cash capital increase, and/or private placement of domestic 

or overseas convertible corporate bonds. When conducting the private placement of domestic or 

overseas convertible corporate bonds (hereinafter referred to as the “Convertible Bonds”), the 

number of common shares to be converted shall be calculated based on the conversion price at the 

time of the private placement and must be within the aforementioned limit of 8,000 thousand 

shares. 

3. Issue Date: To be issued in one or two rounds within one year after approval by the 2025 General 

Shareholders’ Meeting. 

4. Method of Issuance: The Convertible Bonds will be issued in accordance with Article 43-6 of the 

Securities and Exchange Act and the applicable laws and regulations of the place of issuance. 

The targets of this private placement shall be limited to specific persons as defined under Article 

43-6 of the Securities and Exchange Act and must be strategic investors. Priority will be given to 

those who are expected to contribute to the Company’s long-term development, enhance 

competitiveness, and benefit the interests of existing shareholders. It is proposed that the Board of 

Directors be fully authorized to handle all matters related to the identification and engagement of 

such specific persons. 

Purpose, Necessity, and Expected Benefits of Selecting Strategic Investors: To meet the needs of 

the Company’s operational development, it is proposed that strategic investors be selected to 

directly or indirectly assist the Company in areas such as finance, business operations, R&D, 

technology, procurement, management, and strategic planning, in order to enhance the Company’s 

competitiveness, improve operational efficiency, and promote long-term development. 

5. Type, Par Value, and Issue Price of the Convertible Bonds: These bonds are privately placed, 

registered, convertible corporate bonds with a par value of US$10,000 or a multiple thereof, or 

NT$100,000 or a multiple thereof. The issue price shall not be lower than 80% of the theoretical 

price. 

6. Coupon Rate and Interest Payment Method of the Corporate Bonds: To be determined by the Board 

of Directors based on financial market conditions. 

7. Term of Issuance: Shall not exceed five years from the date of issuance. 

8. Redemption Method: Except for bonds that have been converted, exercised through a put option, 

redeemed, or repurchased and canceled, these corporate bonds shall be redeemed by the Company 

in cash at their par value, or at par value plus an interest compensation amount, upon maturity. 

9. Conversion Target: Newly issued common shares of M31. 
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10. Conversion: 

(1) Conversion Period for the Convertible Bonds: 

Except during periods of early redemption, repurchase, cancellation, exercise of conversion 

rights, or any other non-convertible periods as specified in the bond issuance agreement, 

bondholders may request to convert the bonds into the Company’s common shares at any time 

during a specified period starting after the issuance and ending prior to the bond's maturity, in 

accordance with applicable laws and the terms of the issuance agreement. 

(2) Bond Conversion Procedure:  

When requesting conversion, the bondholder shall submit a 'Conversion Notice' along with 

the bond certificate and any documents or certifications required under the laws of the 

Republic of China to the Company. 

(3) Determination and Adjustment of the Conversion Price: 

The conversion price shall not be lower than 80% of the higher of: (i) the simple arithmetic 

average closing price of the common shares for 1, 3, or 5 business days prior to the pricing 

date (whichever is selected), adjusted for ex-rights and ex-dividends from stock distributions, 

and adding back the price adjustment from capital reduction; or (ii) the simple arithmetic 

average closing price of the common shares for the 30 business days prior to the pricing date, 

also adjusted for ex-rights and ex-dividends, and adding back the price adjustment from 

capital reduction. The actual conversion price is proposed to be determined by the Board of 

Directors in accordance with applicable laws and regulations, subject to authorization by the 

Shareholders’ Meeting. Adjustments to the conversion price shall also be determined by the 

Board of Directors. 

(4) Entitlement to Dividends in the Year of Conversion: 

Holders of the convertible bonds shall not be entitled to any dividends or distributions prior 

to conversion. After conversion, the bondholders shall be entitled to receive dividends or 

distributions on the Company’s common shares in accordance with the law, on the same basis 

as other common shareholders of the Company. 

(5) Rights and Obligations After Conversion: 

Except for the transfer restrictions within three years from the date of delivery as stipulated in 

Article 43-8 of the Securities and Exchange Act, the common shares issued upon conversion 

of the bonds shall have the same rights and obligations as the Company’s existing common 

shares. 

11. Conditions for Early Redemption by the Issuer: To be determined by the Board of Directors. 

12. Conditions for Bondholder Put Option: The Company may choose not to provide a put option, or 

the bondholders may, after a specified period from the issuance date, request the Company to 

redeem all or part of the bonds at a price calculated based on a predetermined annual yield rate. 

13. Other Important Terms and Conditions: The issuance terms of the bonds and any other matters 

not specified herein shall be determined, adjusted, and fully handled by the Board of Directors as 

authorized. 
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M31 Technology Corporation 

Details of the Issuance of Restricted Employee Shares 
 

1. Total Issuance: A total of 400,000 common shares will be issued, with a par value of NT$10 per 

share, amounting to a total issuance of NT$4,000,000. 

2. Issuance Terms 

(1) Issuance Price: 50% of the closing price of the stock on the issuance date. 

(2) Type of Shares to Be Issued: Common shares of the Company 

(3) Vesting Conditions: 

(3.1) Employees must have completed the following lengths of service and met performance 

standards during the respective vesting periods: 

 Vesting Period     Vested Share Ratio   Performance Criteria       

2 years from the grant date    50%     Performance rating of grade G or above  

3 years from the grant date    50%     Performance rating of grade G or above 

(3.2) The standards for achieving individual performance targets shall be mutually agreed upon 

by the Company and each employee. 

(3.3) Handling Method for Failure to Meet Vesting Conditions or in the Event of Inheritance: 

If an employee who has been granted restricted employee shares fails to meet the vesting 

conditions, the Company may repurchase the unvested portion of such shares (including any 

stock dividends and related entitlements) at the issuance price and cancel them. In the event 

of inheritance, the matter shall be handled in accordance with the relevant provisions of the 

restricted employee shares issuance regulations. 

(3.4) Other Issuance Terms: None. 

3. Eligibility criteria for employees and the number of shares they may be granted or subscribe for: 

(1) The restricted employee shares are granted to full-time regular employees of the Company who 

are employed on the grant date, as well as to employees of controlled or affiliated companies 

who meet certain criteria to be determined by the Board of Directors. The aforementioned 

employees must also meet specified performance standards, and eligibility shall be limited to 

the following: 

(1.1) Significant impact on the Company's operations 

(1.2) Highly relevant to the Company's future strategy and business development 

(1.3) Core key technical talent 

(2) The actual number of restricted employee shares granted to each employee will be determined 

based on factors such as seniority, job level, work performance, overall contribution, special 

achievements, or other managerial considerations. The quantity shall be approved by the 

Chairman and submitted to the Board of Directors for approval. However, for employees who 

hold managerial positions or serve as directors, prior approval from the Remuneration 

Committee is required. 

(3) The number of shares granted to any single employee shall be handled in accordance with 

Article 60-9 of the “Regulations Governing the Offering and Issuance of Securities by 

Securities Issuers,” which states: “Where the Company issues employee stock warrants under 

Article 56-1, paragraph 1, the cumulative number of shares subscribable by a single warrant 

holder of the employee stock warrants, in combination with the cumulative number of new 
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restricted employee shares obtained by the single warrant holder, may not exceed 0.3 percent 

of the issuer’s total issued shares. And the above in combination with the cumulative number 

of shares subscribable by the single warrant holder of employee stock warrants issued by the 

Company under Article 56, paragraph 1, may not exceed 1 percent of the issuer’s total issued 

shares.” 

4. Justification for the issuance of this restricted employee shares grant: 

The Company aims to attract and retain professional talent, incentivize employees, and enhance 

employee cohesion, with the goal of creating greater value for both the Company and its 

shareholders, while ensuring alignment between employee and shareholder interests. 

5. Potential expenses to be recognized, dilution of earnings per share, and other matters affecting 

shareholders’ equity: 

(1) Potential Expenses to Be Recognized: 

The Company currently has 41,798,160 shares outstanding. The maximum number of restricted 

employee shares to be issued under this plan is 400,000 shares, representing approximately 

0.96% of the total outstanding shares. Based on the closing price of NT$455 on April 11, 2025, 

and an issuance price of NT$227.5 per share, the estimated maximum total compensation 

expense related to the 400,000 restricted shares would be approximately NT$91,000 thousand. 

If issued in July 2025, the estimated compensation expense to be recognized over the years 

2025 to 2028 would be NT$18,958 thousand, NT$37,917 thousand, NT$26,542 thousand, and 

NT$7,583 thousand, respectively. 

(2) Dilution Impact on the Company’s Earnings Per Share: 

Assuming a three-year vesting period and based on the current number of shares outstanding, 

the estimated impact on earnings per share for 2025 to 2028 would be a reduction of NT$0.45, 

NT$0.90, NT$0.63, and NT$0.18, respectively. 

(3) Other Matters Affecting Shareholders’ Equity: 

After overall assessment, the Company anticipates a growth trend in future revenue and 

profitability; therefore, the annual expense recognition amount is not expected to have a 

material impact on shareholders' equity. 

6. Rights restricted before vesting for employees granted or subscribed new shares: 

If an employee who has been granted restricted employee shares fails to meet the vesting 

conditions, the Company may repurchase the unvested portion of such shares (including any 

stock dividends and related entitlements) at the issuance price and cancel them. In the event of 

inheritance, the matter shall be handled in accordance with the relevant provisions of the 

restricted employee shares issuance regulations. 

7. Other Key Agreed Terms (Including Stock Trust Custody, etc.) 

(1) During the trust period for the restricted employee shares, the Company shall act on behalf of 

the employees with full authority in dealings with the stock trust institution, including but not 

limited to the negotiation, execution, amendment, extension, termination, or cancellation of 

the trust agreement, as well as the delivery, utilization, and disposal instructions of the trust 

assets. 
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(2) The restricted employee shares issued shall be held in custody through a stock trust 

arrangement. Before the vesting conditions are met, the shares may not be reclaimed from the 

trustee under any circumstances or for any reason. 

(3) The Restricted Employee Shares Issuance Plan shall be formulated based on the above 

content and approved by a meeting of the Board of Directors attended by at least two-thirds of 

the directors, with the consent of more than half of those present. Should any amendments be 

required prior to issuance due to changes in laws or regulations, requests from the competent 

authority, or changes in objective circumstances, the Chairman is authorized to make the 

necessary revisions to the plan, which shall then be submitted to the Board of Directors for 

ratification before the issuance may proceed. 

8. Other Matters to Be Specified: Any matters not covered herein shall be handled in accordance 

with applicable laws and regulations. 
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Articles of Incorporation 

of 

M31 Technology Corporation 

 
Section I  General Provisions 

Article 1 The Company shall be incorporated under the Company Act, and its name shall be 

M31Technology Corporation. 

Article 2 The scope of business of the Company shall be as follows: 

CC01030 Electrical Appliance and Audiovisual Electric Products Manufacturing 

CC01060 Wired Communication Mechanical Equipment Manufacturing 

CC01070 Wireless Communication Mechanical Equipment Manufacturing  

CC01080 Electronics Components Manufacturing 

CC01090 Manufacture of Batteries and Accumulators  

CC01110 Computer and Peripheral Equipment Manufacturing 

CC01120 Data Storage Media Manufacturing and Duplicating 

CC01990 Other Electrical Engineering and Electronic Machinery Equipment  

Manufacturing  

F118010 Wholesale of Computer Software 

F218010 Retail Sale of Computer Software 

F219010 Retail Sale of Electronic Materials 

F601010 Intellectual Property Rights 

I301010 Information Software Services 

I301020 Data Processing Services 

I301030 Electronic Information Supply Services 

I199990 Other Consulting Service  

IZ99990 Other Industrial and Commercial Services 

CZ99990 Manufacture of Other Industrial Products Not Elsewhere Classified 

ZZ99999 All business items that are not prohibited or restricted by law, except those 

that are subject to special approval 

Article 3 The total amount of the Company’s reinvestment shall not be subject to the restriction 

of no more than 40% of the Company’s paid-up capital, as provided in Article 13 of the 

Company Act. The Company may provide endorsement and guarantee and act as a 

guarantor.  

Article 4 The Company has registered its headquarters in Hsinchu County, Taiwan, Republic of 

China. Upon approval of government authorities in charge, the Company may also have 

branch offices at such other places both within and without the territory of the Republic 

of China as the Board of Directors may determine whenever is necessary. 
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Article 5 Public announcements of the Company shall be made in accordance with Article 28 of 

the Company Act. 

 

Section II  Capital Stock 

Article 6 The Company’s authorized capital is set at NT$500 million, divided into 50 million 

shares, each with a par value of NT$10, and may be issued in installments as authorized 

by the Board of Directors based on actual needs. Within this amount, up to NT$75 million 

is reserved for the issuance of employee stock option certificates, which may also be 

issued in installments as resolved by the Board of Directors. 

The recipients of the Company’s employee stock option certificates include employees 

of controlling and subsidiary companies who meet certain criteria. 

When the Company issues new shares, employees eligible to subscribe include those 

from controlling and subsidiary companies who meet certain criteria. 

Recipients of the Company's restricted employee shares include employees of 

controlling and subsidiary companies who meet certain criteria. 

The recipients of the Company’s treasury shares repurchased in accordance with the law 

include employees of controlling and subsidiary companies who meet certain criteria. 

Article 6-1 The issuance of employee stock options with an exercise price lower than the closing 

price of the Company’s ordinary shares on the date of issuance shall be subject to the 

approval of the shareholders’ meeting with more than half of the shareholders 

representing the total number of outstanding shares and two-thirds of the shareholders’ 

voting rights present. 

The transfer of shares of the Company’s ordinary shares to employees at a price less than 

the average price at which the shares of the Company’s ordinary shares were actually 

repurchased shall be approved by at least two-thirds of the voting rights of the 

shareholders present at the most recent shareholders’ meeting representing more than 

half of the total number of outstanding shares. 

Article 7 The share certificates of the Company shall all be name-bearing and issued in 

accordance with Article 161-1 of the Company Act. Share certificates issued by the 

Company are exempted from printing; however, they shall be registered in the central 

securities depository. 

Article 8 Registration for share transfer shall be suspended sixty days before the date of 

shareholders’ meeting, and thirty days before the extraordinary general shareholders’ 

meeting, or within five days before the day on which the Company determines to pay 

dividends, bonuses, or any other benefits. 
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Section III Meetings of Shareholders 

Article 9 The shareholders’ meetings of the Company are classified into two types. The annual 

meeting shall be annually convened by the Board within six months from the end of 

each fiscal year in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations. The extraordinary 

meeting shall be convened in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations, 

whenever is necessary. 

The Company’s shareholders’ meetings may be held by video conference or by announcement 

of the central competent authority. 

Article 10 Shareholders may designate a proxy to attend the shareholders’ meeting with a power 

of attorney issued by the Company in accordance accordance with Article 177, Article 

177-1, and Article 177-2 of the Company Act and the Regulations Governing the Use of 

Proxies for Attendance at Shareholders’ Meeting of Public Companies promulgated by 

the competent authority. 

Article 11 Shareholders of the Company are entitled to one vote for each share held. However, if 

there are exceptions to the provisions of Article 179 of the Company Act, this shall not 

apply to Company’s shares held by its own pursuant to laws and regulations. 

Article 12 The resolutions of shareholders’ meeting, unless otherwise stated in the relevant laws 

and regulations, shall be agreed by the majority of votes represented by the attending 

shareholders or proxies who represents the majority of the total number of issued shares. 

Shareholder who votes electronically shall be deemed as attending the Meeting in person. 

Electronic voting shall be conducted in accordance with relevant laws and regulations. 

The proposal shall be deemed adopted if all attending shareholders are solicited by the 

Chairman and no objection is voiced. Its validity is the same as voted by casting ballot. 

The Company may withdraw from public offering upon shareholder approval at the 

Meeting and submission of a request for withdrawal to the competent authority. 

Article 13 If a shareholders’ meeting is convened by the Board of Directors, the meeting shall be 

chaired by the Chairman. When the Chairman is on leave or for any reason unable to 

exercise the powers of the Chairman, the Chairman shall appoint one of the directors to 

act as chair. Where the Chairman does not make such a designation, the directors shall 

select from among themselves one person to serve as chair. If a shareholders’ meeting 

is convened by a party with power to convene but other than the Board of Directors, the 

convening party shall chair the meeting. When there are two or more such convening 

parties, they shall mutually select a chair from among themselves. 

Article 14  The resolutions of the general shareholders’ meeting shall be recorded in the minutes. 

The minutes shall be signed or affixed to the meeting Chairman’s seal and be distributed 

to all shareholders within twenty days after the meeting. The distribution of the 

preceding minutes shall be in accordance with the provisions of the Company Act. 

 

  



<Appendix 1> 
 

52 

Section IV Directors and Audit Committee 

Article 15 The Company shall have five (5) to nine (9) directors to be elected at the Meeting 

through a nominating system from persons of legal capacity to serve a term of three 

years. Shareholders shall nominate candidates for election as directors from the list of 

candidates. Directors are eligible for re-election. The number of Independent Directors 

within the number of Directors in the preceding article shall be two at least, and shall 

not be less than one-fifth of the total number of Directors. The professional 

qualifications, restrictions on both shareholding and concurrent positions held, 

determination of independence, method of nomination and other requirements with 

regard to the independent directors shall be set forth in accordance with the competent 

authorities. 

In addition, the Company shall purchase insurance to cover the liability of the directors 

in respect of the scope of business they are legally obligated to perform during their term 

of office. 

The Company shall establish various functional committees under the Board of Directors, 

and each functional committee shall establish rules and regulations for the exercise of its 

powers and functions, which shall be implemented upon approval by the Board of 

Directors. 

Article 16 The Company shall establish an Audit Committee in accordance with the relevant 

provisions of the Securities and Exchange Act. The number of members, term of office, 

power and rules of procedure of the Audit Committee shall be determined in accordance 

with the relevant provisions of the "Regulations Governing the Exercise of Powers and 

Functions of the Audit Committee of Public Companies" and shall be governed by the 

Rules and Regulations Governing the Organization of the Audit Committee. 

Article 17 The Company’s directors shall be elected through cumulative voting. Each share has the 

voting rights equal to the number of directors to be elected. The votes may be cast to one 

candidate or among several candidates. The candidates who receives the most votes shall 

be elected as the director. Any amendment of this voting system shall be handled in 

accordance with Article 172 of the Company Act and shall be specified, with explanation 

of the material contents, in the notice of the meeting. 

Article 18 The Board is composed of Directors. The Directors shall elect a Chairman from among 

themselves in the Board meeting with the consent of the majority of attending Directors, 

which represents more than two-thirds of all Directors. The Chairman shall have the 

authority to represent the Company. 

Article 19 In the case where the Chairman is on leave or cannot exercise his or her authority with 

due cause, a proxy shall be appointed in accordance with Article 208 of the Company 

Act. 

If a Director is unable to attend the Board meeting for some reason, he/she shall authorize 

another Director to stand proxy with a power of attorney indicating the scope of authority 

with reference to the subjects to be discussed at the meeting. No Director may act as a 
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proxy for more than one other Director. 

For Board meetings conducted through video-conferencing, a Director who participates 

through video conferencing is deemed to attend in person. 

Article 20 All of the directors shall be paid by the Company regardless of operating gains or losses. 

The Board is delegated to determine the remuneration to Directors based on their 

involvement in the Company’s business operation and their contributions to the 

Company with reference to the remuneration standard of the industry. 

 

Section V  Managers 

Article 21 The Company shall have several managers. Their appointment, dismissal, and 

remuneration shall be subject to Article 29 of the Company Act. 

 

Section VI Accounting 

Article 22 The Company’s Board of Directors shall prepare the following after the end of each fiscal 

year and forward them to the general shareholders’ meeting for approval:  

1. Business report 

2. Financial statements 

3. Profit distribution or deficit compensation proposal 

Article 23 When the Company generates a profit for the year, no less than 1% of the profit shall be 

allocated as employee compensation, and no more than 1.5% shall be allocated as 

remuneration for directors.However, if the Company has accumulated losses, the amount 

required to cover such losses shall be retained in advance. 

Employee compensation may be distributed in the form of stock or cash, and recipients 

may include employees of subsidiary companies who meet certain criteria, as authorized 

and determined by the Board of Directors. Directors’ remuneration shall be distributed 

in cash. 

Article 24  If there is any profit in an annual general financial statement of the Company, such profit 

shall be distributed in the following orders: 

1. Reserve for tax payments. 

2. Offset accumulated losses, if any. 

3. Legal reserve, which is set aside 10% of remaining net profits after deducting the 

aforementioned items. However, this restriction does not apply in the event that the 

amount of the accumulated legal reserve equals or exceeds the Company’s total 

capital stock. 

4. Set aside or reverse of special reserves as required by law or government authorities. 

5. The remaining net profits and retained earnings from previous years shall be 

prepared by the Board for distribution of earnings. If the distribution is made in the 

form of new shares, it shall be submitted to the shareholders’ meeting for a 

resolution, and if the distribution is made in the form of cash, the Board of Directors 

shall be authorized to resolve on the distribution in accordance with Article 240, 
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Paragraph 5 of the Company Act and report to the shareholders’ meeting. 

In accordance with Article 241 of the Company Act, the Company may issue all or 

part of the legal reserve and capital reserve to new shares or cash in proportion to the 

shareholders’ common shares, and in the case of a cash payment, the Board is 

authorized to resolve the matter and report it to the shareholders’ meeting. 

The Company’s dividend policy considers the Company’s sustainable operation, 

stable growth, protection of shareholders’ rights and interests, and healthy financial 

structure, and the Board prepares earnings distribution plans based on future funding 

needs and long-term financial planning. Total dividends to shareholders shall not be less 

than 2% of the retained earnings and may be paid in cash or in stock, with cash dividends not 

less than 10% of the total dividends. 

 

Section VII  Additional Provisions 

Article 25 Matters not set forth in the Articles of Incorporation shall be subject to the Company 

Act and other laws and regulations. 

Article 26 The Articles of Incorporation was established on October 5, 2011. 

The first amendment was made on January 13, 2012.  

The second amendment was made on March 13, 2012. 

The third amendment was made on April 17, 2012. 

The fourth amendment was made on March 25, 2013. 

The fifth amendment was made on June 25, 2014. 

The sixth amendment was made on June 28, 2016. 

The seventh amendment was made on May 9, 2017. 

The eighth amendment was made on May 24, 2018. 

The ninth amendment was made on November 13, 2018 

The tenth amendment was made on August 5, 2021 

The eleventh amendment was made on May 26, 2022 
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Rules of Procedure for Shareholders Meetings 

of 

M31 Technology Corporation 

 

Article 1   In order to establish a good governance system for the Company’s shareholders’ meeting, 

improve the supervisory function and strengthen the management function, in accordance 

with the provisions of Article 5 of the Code of Corporate Governance for Listed 

Companies, these rules are hereby established for compliance. 

Article 2   The rules of procedure for the Shareholders Meetings of the Company, except as 

otherwise provided by law, regulation, or the Articles of Incorporation, shall be as 

provided in these Rules. 

Article 3   The Convention and Meeting Notice of Shareholders’ Meeting 

The general shareholders’ meetings of the Company shall be convened by the Board of 

Directors unless otherwise provided by laws and regulations.  

The Company shall prepare electronic versions of the shareholders’ meeting notice and 

proxy forms, and the origins, as well as explanatory materials, relating to all proposals, 

including proposals for ratification, matters for deliberation, or the election or dismissal 

of directors, and upload them to the Market Observation Post System (MOPS) 30 days 

before the date of a general shareholders’ meeting or 15 days before the date of a special 

shareholders’ meeting. The Company shall prepare electronic versions of the 

shareholders’ meeting agenda and supplemental meeting materials and upload them to 

the MOPS 21 days before the date of the general shareholders’ meeting or 15 days before 

the date of the special shareholders’ meeting. In addition, 15 days before the date of the 

shareholders’ meeting, the Company shall also have prepared the shareholders’ meeting 

agenda and supplemental meeting materials and made them available for review by 

shareholders at any time. The meeting agenda and supplemental materials shall also be 

displayed at the Company and the professional shareholder services agent designated 

thereby as well as being distributed on-site at the meeting place. 

The reasons for convening a shareholders’ meeting shall be specified in the meeting 

notice and public announcement. With the consent of the addressee, the meeting notice 

may be given in electronic form. 

Election or dismissal of directors, amendments to the Articles of Incorporation, reduction 

of capital, application for the approval of ceasing its status as a public company, approval 

of competing with the company by directors, using earnings to increase capitalization, 

using reserve to increase capitalization, the dissolution, merger, or demerger of the 

Company, or any matter under Article 185, paragraph 1 (Significant change in business 

policy) of the Company Act, shall be set out in the notice of the reasons for convening 

the shareholders’ meeting, as well as the essential contents shall be explained. None of 

the above matters may be raised by an extemporary motions; the essential contents may 

be posted on the website designated by the competent authority in charge of securities 

affairs or the Company, and such website shall be indicated in the above notice.  
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Where the matter of that all directors of the Company will be re-elected has been set out 

in the causes of a meeting of shareholders to be convened, and the date for the elected 

directors to assume their office is also indicated in, after the re-election is completed in 

such a shareholders’ meeting, the date for the elected directors to assume their office shall 

not be altered by bring up as extemporary motions or by other means. 

A shareholder holding 1 % or more of the total number of issued shares may submit to 

the Company a proposal for discussion at a general shareholders’ meeting. Such proposal 

is limited to one item only, and no proposal containing more than one item will be 

included in the meeting agenda. However, the proposed proposal for urging the Company 

to promote public interests or fulfill its social responsibilities may still be included in the 

list of proposals to be discussed at the shareholders’ meeting by the Board of Directors. 

In addition, when any one of the circumstances set forth in each subparagraph of 

paragraph 4, Article 172-1 of the Company Act apply to a proposal put forward by a 

shareholder, the Board of Directors may exclude it from the agenda. 

Prior to the book closure date before a general shareholders’ meeting is held, the 

Company shall publicly announce that it will receive shareholder proposals, methods of 

acceptance in writing or by way of electronic transmission and the location and time 

period for their submission; the period for submission of shareholder proposals shall not 

be less than 10 days. Shareholder-submitted proposals are limited to 300 words, and no 

proposal containing more than 300 words will be included in the meeting agenda. The 

shareholder making the proposal shall be present in person or by proxy at the general 

shareholders’ meeting and take part in discussion of the proposal. 

Prior to the date for issuance of notice of a shareholders’ meeting, the Company shall 

inform the shareholders who submitted proposals of the proposal screening results, and 

shall list in the meeting notice the proposals that conform to the provisions of this Article. 

At the shareholders’ meeting the Board of Directors shall explain the reasons for 

exclusion of any shareholder proposals not included in the agenda. 

Article 4  Proxy form 

For each general shareholders’ meeting, a shareholder may appoint a proxy to attend the 

meeting by providing the proxy form issued by the Company and stating the scope of the 

proxy’s authorization. 

A shareholder may issue only one proxy form and appoint only one proxy for any given 

general shareholders’ meeting, and shall deliver the proxy form to the Company before 5 

days before the date of the shareholders’ meeting. When duplicate proxy forms are 

delivered, the one received earliest shall prevail unless a declaration is made to cancel the 

previous proxy appointment. 

After a proxy form has been delivered to the Company, if the shareholder intends to attend 

the meeting in person or to exercise voting rights by correspondence or electronically, a 

written notice of proxy cancellation shall be submitted to the Company 2 days before the 

meeting date. If the cancellation notice is submitted after that time, votes cast at the 

meeting by the proxy shall prevail. 
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Article 5  Principles Determining the Time and Place of a Shareholders’ Meeting 

The venue for a shareholders’ meeting shall be the premises of the Company, or a place 

easily accessible to shareholders and suitable for a shareholders’ meeting. The meeting 

shall begin no earlier than 9 a.m. and no later than 3 p.m. Full consideration shall be given 

to the opinions of the independent directors with respect to the place and time of the 

meeting. 

Article 6   Preparation of Documents such as the Attendance Book 

The Company shall specify in its shareholders’ meeting notices the time during which 

shareholder attendance registrations will be accepted, the place to register for attendance, 

and other matters for attention. 

The time during which shareholder attendance registrations will be accepted, as stated in 

the preceding paragraph, shall be at least 30 minutes prior to the time the meeting 

commences. The place at which attendance registrations are accepted shall be clearly 

marked and a sufficient number of suitable personnel assigned to handle the registrations. 

Shareholders and their proxies (collectively, "shareholders") shall attend shareholders’ 

meetings based on attendance cards, sign-in cards, or other certificates of attendance. The 

Company may not arbitrarily add requirements for other documents beyond those showing 

eligibility to attend presented by shareholders. Solicitors soliciting proxy forms shall also 

bring identification documents for verification. 

The Company shall furnish the attending shareholders with an attendance book to sign, or 

attending shareholders may hand in a sign-in card in lieu of signing in. 

The Company shall furnish attending shareholders with the meeting agenda book, annual 

report, attendance card, speaker’s slips, voting slips, and other meeting materials; where 

there is an election of directors, pre-printed ballots shall also be furnished. 

When the government or a juristic person is a shareholder, it may be represented by more 

than one representative at a shareholders’ meeting. When a juristic person is appointed to 

attend as proxy, it may designate only one person to represent it in the meeting. 

Article 7  The Chair and Non-voting Participants of a Shareholders’ Meeting 

If a shareholders’ meeting is convened by the Board of Directors, the meeting shall be 

chaired by the Chairman. When the Chairman is on leave or for any reason unable to 

exercise the powers of the Chairman, the Chairman shall appoint one of the directors to 

act as chair. Where the Chairman does not make such a designation, the directors shall 

select from among themselves one person to serve as chair. 

When a director serves as chair, as referred to in the preceding paragraph, the director 

shall be one who has held that position for six months or more and who understands the 

financial and business conditions of the Company. The same shall be true for a 

representative of a juristic person director that serves as chair. 

It is advisable that shareholders’ meetings convened by the Board of Directors be chaired 

by the Chairman in person and attended by a majority of the directors, and at least one 

member of each functional committee on behalf of the committee. The attendance shall 

be recorded in the meeting minutes. 
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If a shareholders’ meeting is convened by a party with power to convene but other than 

the Board of Directors, the convening party shall chair the meeting. When there are two 

or more such convening parties, they shall mutually select a chair from among themselves. 

The Company may appoint its attorneys, certified public accountants, or related persons 

retained by it to attend a shareholders’ meeting in a non-voting capacity. 

Article 8 Documentation of a Shareholders’ Meeting by Audio or Video 

The Company, beginning from the time it accepts shareholder attendance registrations, 

shall make an uninterrupted audio and video recording of the registration procedure, the 

proceedings of the shareholders’ meeting, and the voting and vote counting procedures. 

The recorded materials of the preceding paragraph shall be retained for at least 1 year. If, 

however, a shareholder files a lawsuit pursuant to Article 189 of the Company Act, the 

recording shall be retained until the conclusion of the litigation. 

Article 9 Attendance 

Attendance at shareholders’ meetings shall be calculated based on numbers of shares. The 

number of shares in attendance shall be calculated according to the shares indicated by 

the attendance book and sign-in cards handed in plus the number of shares whose voting 

rights are exercised by correspondence or electronically. 

The chair shall call the meeting to order at the appointed meeting time. However, when 

the attending shareholders do not represent a majority of the total number of issued shares, 

the chair may announce a postponement, provided that no more than two such 

postponements, for a combined total of no more than 1 hour, may be made. If the quorum 

is not met after two postponements and the attending shareholders still represent less than 

one third of the total number of issued shares, the chair shall declare the meeting adjourned. 

If the quorum is not met after two postponements as referred to in the preceding paragraph, 

but the attending shareholders represent one third or more of the total number of issued 

shares, a tentative resolution may be adopted pursuant to paragraph 1, Article 175 of the 

Company Act; all shareholders shall be notified of the tentative resolution and another 

shareholders’ meeting shall be convened within 1 month. 

When, prior to conclusion of the meeting, the attending shareholders represent a majority 

of the total number of issued shares, the chair may resubmit the tentative resolution for a 

vote by the shareholders’ meeting pursuant to Article 174 of the Company Act. 

Article 10  Discussion of Proposals 

If a shareholders’ meeting is convened by the Board of Directors, the meeting agenda shall 

be set by the Board of Directors. The proposals (including extemporary motion and the 

amendment to original proposal) shall require a voting by poll on every resolution. The 

meeting shall proceed in the order set by the agenda, which may not be changed without 

a resolution of the shareholders’ meeting. 

The provisions of the preceding paragraph apply mutatis mutandis to a shareholders’ 

meeting convened by a party with the power to convene that is not the Board of Directors. 

The chair may not declare the meeting adjourned prior to completion of deliberation on 

the meeting agenda of the preceding two paragraphs (including extraordinary motions), 
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except by a resolution of the shareholders’ meeting. If the chair declares the meeting 

adjourned in violation of the rules of procedure, the other members of the Board of 

Directors shall promptly assist the attending shareholders in electing a new chair in 

accordance with statutory procedures, by agreement of a majority of the votes represented 

by the attending shareholders, and then continue the meeting. 

The chair shall allow ample opportunity during the meeting for explanation and discussion 

of proposals and of amendments or extraordinary motions put forward by the shareholders; 

when the chair is of the opinion that a proposal has been discussed sufficiently to put it to 

a vote, the chair may announce the discussion closed and call for a vote with arranging 

sufficient time for the vote. 

Article 11 Shareholder Speech 

Before speaking, an attending shareholder must specify on a speaker’s slip the subject of 

the speech, his/her shareholder account number (or attendance card number), and account 

name. The order in which shareholders speak will be set by the chair. 

A shareholder in attendance who has submitted a speaker’s slip but does not actually speak 

shall be deemed to have not spoken. When the content of the speech does not correspond 

to the subject given on the speaker’s slip, the spoken content shall prevail. 

Except with the consent of the chair, a shareholder may not speak more than twice on the 

same proposal, and a single speech may not exceed 5 minutes. If the shareholder’s speech 

violates the rules or exceeds the scope of the agenda item, the chair may terminate the 

speech. 

When an attending shareholder is speaking, other shareholders may not speak or interrupt 

unless they have sought and obtained the consent of the chair and the shareholder that has 

the floor; the chair shall stop any violation. 

When a juristic person shareholder appoints two or more representatives to attend a 

shareholders’ meeting, only one of the representatives so appointed may speak on the 

same proposal. 

After an attending shareholder has spoken, the chair may respond in person or direct 

relevant personnel to respond. 

Article 12 Calculation of Voting Shares and Recusal System 

Voting at a shareholders’ meeting shall be calculated based the number of shares. 

With respect to resolutions of shareholders’ meeting, the number of shares held by a 

shareholder with no voting rights shall not be calculated as part of the total number of 

issued shares. 

When a shareholder is an interested party in relation to an agenda item, and there is the 

likelihood that such a relationship would prejudice the interests of the Company, that 

shareholder may not vote on that item, and may not exercise voting rights as proxy for 

any other shareholder. 

The number of shares for which voting rights may not be exercised under the preceding 

paragraph shall not be calculated as part of the voting rights represented by attending 

shareholders. 
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With the exception of a trust enterprise or a shareholder services agent approved by the 

competent securities authority, when one person is concurrently appointed as proxy by 

two or more shareholders, the voting rights represented by that proxy may not exceed 3% 

of the voting rights represented by the total number of issued shares. If that percentage is 

exceeded, the voting rights in excess of that percentage shall not be included in the 

calculation. 

Article 13 Vote on a Proposal 

A shareholder shall be entitled to one vote for each share held, except when the shares are 

restricted shares or are deemed non-voting shares under paragraph 2, Article 179 of the 

Company Act. 

When the Company holds a shareholders’ meeting, it may allow the shareholders to 

exercise voting rights by electronic means or correspondence means. When voting rights 

are exercised by correspondence or electronic means, the method of exercise shall be 

specified in the shareholders’ meeting notice. A shareholder exercising voting rights by 

correspondence or electronic means will be deemed to have attended the meeting in person, 

but to have waived his/her rights with respect to the extraordinary motions and 

amendments to original proposals of that meeting; it is therefore advisable that the 

Company avoid the submission of extraordinary motions and amendments to original 

proposals. 

A shareholder intending to exercise voting rights by correspondence or electronic means 

under the preceding paragraph shall deliver a written declaration of intent to the Company 

2 days before the date of the shareholders’ meeting. When duplicate declarations of intent 

are delivered, the one received earliest shall prevail, except when a declaration is made to 

cancel the earlier declaration of intent. After a shareholder has exercised voting rights by 

correspondence or electronic means, in the event the shareholder intends to attend the 

shareholders’ meeting in person, a written declaration of intent to retract the voting rights 

already exercised under the preceding paragraph shall be made known to the Company, 

by the same means by which the voting rights were exercised, 2 days before the date of 

the shareholders’ meeting. If the notice of retraction is submitted after that time, the voting 

rights already exercised by correspondence or electronic means shall prevail. When a 

shareholder has exercised voting rights both by correspondence or electronic means and 

by appointing a proxy to attend a shareholders’ meeting, the voting rights exercised by 

the proxy in the meeting shall prevail. 

Except as otherwise provided in the Company Act and in the Company’s Articles of 

Incorporation, the passage of a proposal shall require an affirmative vote of a majority of 

the voting rights represented by the attending shareholders. During a vote, for each 

proposal, the chair or a person designated by the chair shall first announce the total number 

of voting rights represented by the attending shareholders, followed by a poll of the 

shareholders. After the conclusion of the meeting, on the same day it is held, the results 

for each proposal, based on the numbers of votes for and against and the number of 

abstentions, shall be entered into the MOPS. 
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When there is an amendment or an alternative to a proposal, the chair shall present the 

amended or alternative proposal together with the original proposal and decide the order 

in which they will be put to a vote. When any one among them is passed, the other 

proposals will then be deemed rejected, and no further voting shall be required. 

Vote monitoring and counting personnel for the voting on a proposal shall be appointed 

by the chair, provided that all monitoring personnel shall be shareholders of the Company. 

Vote counting for shareholders’ meeting proposals or elections shall be conducted in 

public at the place of the shareholders’ meeting. Immediately after vote counting has been 

completed, the results of the voting, including the statistical tallies of the numbers of votes, 

shall be announced on-site at the meeting, and a record made of the vote. 

Article 14  Election of Directors 

The election of directors at a shareholders’ meeting shall be held in accordance with the 

applicable election and appointment rules adopted by the Company, and the voting results 

shall be announced on-site immediately, including the names of those elected as directors 

and the numbers of votes with which they were elected. 

The ballots for the election referred to in the preceding paragraph shall be sealed with the 

signatures of the monitoring personnel and kept in proper custody for at least 1 year. If, 

however, a shareholder files a lawsuit pursuant to Article 189 of the Company Act, the 

ballots shall be retained until the conclusion of the litigation. 

Article 15  Meeting Minutes 

The resolutions of the shareholders’ meeting shall be recorded in the minutes. The minutes 

shall be signed or affixed to the meeting Chairman’s seal and be distributed to all 

shareholders within twenty days after the meeting. The production and distribution of 

video and audio files can be done electronically.  

The distribution may be done via public announcement by upload them to the MOPS. 

The meeting minutes shall accurately record the year, month, date, and place of the 

meeting, the chair’s full name, the methods by which resolutions were adopted, and a 

summary of the deliberations and the results of voting (including the statistical weights of 

the numbers of votes), in the event of Director election, the number of the votes to each 

candidate shall be disclosed. The meeting minutes shall be retained for the duration of the 

existence of the Company. 

Article 16 Public Disclosure 

On the day of a shareholders’ meeting, the Company shall compile in the prescribed 

format a statistical statement of the number of shares obtained by solicitors through 

solicitation and the number of shares represented by proxies, and shall make an express 

disclosure of the same at the place of the shareholders’ meeting. 

If matters put to a resolution at a shareholders’ meeting constitute material information 

under applicable laws and regulations, and the Taiwan Stock Exchange(Tapei Exchange), 

the Company shall upload the content of such resolution to the MOPS within the 

prescribed time period. 
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Article 17 Maintaining Order at the Meeting Place 

Staff handling administrative affairs of a shareholders’ meeting shall wear identification 

cards or arm bands. 

The chair may direct the proctors or security personnel to help maintain order at 

themeeting place. When proctors or security personnel help maintain order at the meeting 

place, they shall wear an identification card or arm band bearing the word "Proctor." 

At the place of a shareholders’ meeting, if a shareholder attempts to speak throughany 

device other than the public address equipment set up by the Company, the chair may 

prevent the shareholder from so doing. 

When a shareholder violates the rules of procedure and defies the chair’s correction, 

obstructing the proceedings and refusing to heed calls to stop, the chair may direct the 

proctors or security personnel to escort the shareholder from the meeting. 

Article 18 Recess and Resumption of a Shareholders’ Meeting 

When a meeting is in progress, the chair may announce a break based on time 

considerations. If a force majeure event occurs, the chair may rule the meeting temporarily 

suspended and announce a time when, in view of the circumstances, the meeting will be 

resumed. 

If the meeting venue is no longer available for continued use and not all of the items 

(including extraordinary motions) on the meeting agenda have been addressed, the 

shareholders’ meeting may adopt a resolution to resume the meeting at another venue. 

A resolution may be adopted at a shareholders’ meeting to defer or resume the meeting 

within 5 days in accordance with Article 182 of the Company Act. 

Article 19  These Rules, and any amendments hereto, shall be implemented after adoption by 

shareholders’ meetings. 

Article 20 These Rules were adopted by the Shareholders’ Meeting on June 28, 2016. 

The first amendment was made on May 24, 2018. 

The second amendment was made on May 29, 2020. 
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M31 Technology Corporation 

Rules for Election of Directors 

 
Article 1   The election, re-election and by-election of directors shall be elected in accordance 

with the rules specified herein. 

Article 2   For the election of directors of the Company, the name of the elector shall be replaced 

by the attendance number. 

The election of directors shall be based on the nomination of candidates. 

Article 3   For the election of directors, each share shall have the same right to vote as the number 

of directors to be elected, and the board of directors shall prepare ballots equal to the 

number of directors to be elected and distribute them to each shareholder. 

Article 4   The directors of the Company shall be elected in accordance with the quotas set forth in 

the Articles of Incorporation, and the independent directors and non-independent 

directors shall be elected together and the number of elected quotas shall be calculated 

separately. The directors shall be elected in the order of the majority of the votes received. 

If there are more than two persons with the same number of votes and the number of 

directors exceeds the required number, lots shall be drawn by those with the same number 

of votes. For persons who are unable to attend, the Chairman shall draw lots for the 

candidates. 

Article 5   Independent directors shall obtain one of the following professional qualifications 

and have at least five years of working experience: 

1. Lecturer or above from a public or private college or university in business, law, 

finance, accounting or related fields required for company’s business. 

2. Judges, prosecutors, lawyers, accountants or other professional and technical 

personnel who have passed the national examinations required for the company’s 

business. 

3. Experience in business, legal, finance, accounting or corporate business.  

Anyone who has served as an independent director shall be prohibited from serving 

as an independent director and shall be terminated if he or she has served as one of 

the following: 

1. In one of the cases specified in Article 30 of the Company Act. 

2. In accordance with Article 27 of the Company Act, the government, legal persons 

or their representatives shall be elected. 

3. Violation of the qualifications of independent directors as stipulated in the 

Regulations. 

Article 6 An independent director shall not be one of the following two years prior to his or 

her election and during his or her term of office: 

1. Employees of the Company or its affiliated companies. 
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2. Directors and supervisors of the Company or its affiliated companies. However, 

this does not apply if the company or its parent company or subsidiary is an 

independent director established in accordance with this Act or local laws and 

regulations, the company shall not be subject to this limitation.  

3. The natural shareholders who hold more than one percent of the total issued shares 

or the top ten natural shareholders in the name of themselves, their spouses, minor 

children or in the name of others. 

4. The spouse of a person listed in the preceding three paragraphs, a relative within 

the second degree of kinship, or a relative within the third degree of kinship in 

the direct blood relatives. 

5. A director, supervisor or employee of a corporate shareholder who directly holds 

more than five percent of the total issued shares of the Company, or the top five 

corporate shareholders who hold shares. 

6. Directors, supervisors, managers, or shareholders holding more than 5% of the 

shares of a specific company or organization with which the Company has 

financial or business dealings. 

7. Professionals, sole proprietors, partners, directors, supervisors, managers and 

their spouses who provide business, legal, financial and accounting services or 

consulting services to the Company or its affiliates. However, members of the 

Compensation Committee who perform their duties and responsibilities in 

accordance with Article 7 of the Rules Governing the Establishment and Exercise 

of Powers and Functions of Compensation Committees of Companies whose 

stocks are Listed or Traded on the Business Premises of Securities Firms shall be 

excluded. 

If an independent director has served as an independent director of a company or its 

affiliates or a specific company or organization with which the company has 

financial or business dealings as described in Paragraph 2 or 6 of the preceding 

paragraph and has now terminated his or her appointment, the preceding two-year 

period prior to his or her election shall not apply. 

The specific company or organization referred to in Paragraph 6 of Item 1 shall mean 

a company with one of the following circumstances: 

1. Hold at least 20% and not more than 50% of the Company’s total issued shares. 

2. Other companies and their directors, supervisors and shareholders holding more 

than 10% of the total number of shares hold more than 30% of the total number 

of issued shares of the Company, and there is a record of financial or business 

dealings between the two parties. The shares held by the aforementioned persons 

include their spouses, minor children and those held in the name of others. 

3. The Company receives more than 30% of its operating revenues from other 

companies and its group companies. 
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4. The Company’s major raw materials (defined as those that account for more than 

30% of the total purchase amount and are indispensable for the manufacture of 

products) or major products (defined as those that account for more than 30% of 

the total operating revenues) are derived more than 50% from other companies 

and their group companies in quantities or total purchase amounts. 

The parent company, subsidiary and group referred to in the first and preceding 

paragraphs shall be recognized in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 10. 

Article 7   An independent director shall not serve as an independent director of more than three 

other public companies. 

Article 8   When the Board of Directors prepares the ballot, it shall be printed according to the 

attendance number and filled in with its weight. 

Article 9   At the beginning of the election, the Chairman shall designate scrutineers and tellers to 

monitor and count the votes. 

Article 10  The ballot boxes shall be prepared by the Board of Directors and shall be opened for 

inspection by the scrutineers before the voting. 

Article 11  If the person to be elected is a shareholder, the elector shall fill in the name of the person 

to be elected and the shareholder’s account number on the ballot paper. If he/she is not a 

shareholder, he/she shall fill in the name of the person to be elected and the tax ID number 

(or ID card number), and then put it into the ballot box; however, if the government or a 

corporate shareholder is the nominee, the nominee column of the ballot paper shall be 

filled in with the name of the government or the corporate in accordance with the 

provisions of Article 27, Paragraph 1 of the Company Act, and the name of the 

government or the corporate and the name of its representative in accordance with the 

provisions of Paragraph 2 of the same Article. 

Article 12  An election ballot shall be invalid if one of the following circumstances occurs: 

1. Those who do not use the ballot papers specified in this rule. 

2. Those who vote with a blank ballot. 

3. The handwriting is blurred and unrecognizable or has been altered. 

4. If the name of the candidate is a shareholder, the name of the candidate does not 

match with the register of shareholders. If the name of the candidate is not a 

shareholder, the name and the tax ID number (or ID card number) of the candidate 

do not match. 

5. The same ballot is filled with more than two candidates. 

6. In addition to the candidate’s account name (surname) and shareholder’s account 

number (tax ID number or ID card number), other written characters are included. 

7. Not in accordance with the provisions of Article 11. 

Article 13  The ballot boxes for the election of directors shall be opened together with the scrutineers 

and tellers after the ballots have been cast. 
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Article 14  The counting of votes shall be monitored by the scrutineers, and the results of the 

ballot shall be announced by the Chairman on the spot. The election ballots for the 

aforementioned election shall be sealed and signed by the scrutineers and kept in a 

safe place for at least one year. However, if a lawsuit is filed by a shareholder in 

accordance with Article 189 of the Company Act, it shall be kept until the conclusion 

of the litigation. 

Article 15  The elected director shall be given a notice of election by the Board of Directors 

Article 16 (Deleted) 

Article 17 Matters not covered by this Act shall be handled in accordance with the provisions 

of the Company Law and relevant laws and regulations. 

Article 18 These regulations shall come into effect upon the approval of the shareholders’ meeting, 

and shall be the same when amended. 

Article 19 These Regulations were established on June 28, 2016. 

The first amendment was made on May 24, 2018. 
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M31 Technology Corporation 

Shareholdings of All Directors 

 
1. The total number of issued shares: 41,799,660 shares 

2. The minimum required combined shareholding of all Directors: 3,600,000 shares 

3. Up to the date on which share transfer registration is suspended before the convention of this general 

shareholders’ meeting (March 29, 2025), the status of shareholdings of individual and all Directors 

registered on the shareholders roster is set forth below: 

Title Name Holding Shares Shareholding Ratio 

Chairman Huey-Ling Chen 8,928,647 21.36% 

Director Yuan-Hsun Chang 154,926 0.37% 

Director Li-Kuo Liu 0 0.00% 

Director Chun-Hao Lai 0 0.00% 

Independent 

Director 
Jun-Ji Lin 0 0.00% 

Independent 

Director 
Shih-Ying Huang 0 0.00% 

The number of shares held by all Directors 9,083,573 21.73% 

 

 


